DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICIAL CODE

TITLE 2. GOVERNMENT ADMINISTRATION.

CHAPTER 14. HUMAN RIGHTS.

2001 Edition

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICIAL CODE

CHAPTER 14. HUMAN RIGHTS.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Unit A. Human Rights Law.

Subchapter I. General Provisions.

- § 2-1401.01. Intent of Council.
- § 2-1401.02. Definitions.
- § 2-1401.03. Exceptions.
- § 2-1401.04. Severability of provisions.
- § 2-1401.05. Discrimination based on pregnancy, childbirth, related medical conditions, or breastfeeding.
- Subchapter II. Prohibited Acts of Discrimination.
 - Part A. General.
 - § 2-1402.01. General.
 - Part B. Employment.
 - § 2-1402.11. Prohibitions.
 - § 2-1402.12. Exception.
 - § 2-1402.13. Reports and records.
 - Part C. Housing and Commercial Space.
 - § 2-1402.21. Prohibitions.
 - § 2-1402.22. Blockbusting and steering.
 - § 2-1402.23. Acts of discrimination by broker or salesperson.
 - § 2-1402.24. Exceptions.
 - Part D. Public Accommodations.
 - § 2-1402.31. Prohibitions.
 - Part E. Educational Institutions.
 - § 2-1402.41. Prohibitions.
 - § 2-1402.42. Exceptions regarding sex discrimination and age.
 - Part F. General Requirements.
 - § 2-1402.51. Posting of notice.
 - § 2-1402.52. Records and reports.
 - § 2-1402.53. Affirmative action plans.
 - Part G. Other Prohibited Practices.
 - § 2-1402.61. Coercion or retaliation.
 - § 2-1402.62. Aiding or abetting.
 - § 2-1402.63. Conciliation agreements.
 - § 2-1402.64. Resisting the Office or Commission.
 - § 2-1402.65. Falsifying documents and testimony.
 - § 2-1402.66. Arrest records.
 - § 2-1402.67. District of Columbia.
 - § 2-1402.68. Effects clause.
 - Part H. Miscellaneous Provisions.
 - § 2-1402.71. Prohibitions.

- § 2-1402.72. Motor vehicle rental companies.
- § 2-1402.73. Application to the District government.
- Part I. Breastfeeding Mothers.
 - § 2-1402.81. Findings and purposes.
 - § 2-1402.82. Rights of breastfeeding mothers.
 - § 2-1402.83. Duties of the Department of Health.
- Subchapter III. Procedures.
 - § 2-1403.01. Powers of Office and Commission; annual report by Mayor.
 - § 2-1403.02. Complaints; independent action by other District agencies.
 - § 2-1403.03. Establishment of procedure for complaints filed against District government.
 - § 2-1403.04. Filing of complaints and mediation.
 - § 2-1403.05. Investigation.
 - § 2-1403.06. Conciliation.
 - § 2-1403.07. Injunctive relief.
 - § 2-1403.08. Posting of notice of complaint in housing accommodation.
 - § 2-1403.09. Service of process.
 - § 2-1403.10. Notice of hearing.
 - § 2-1403.11. Hearing tribunal.
 - § 2-1403.12. Conduct of hearing.
 - § 2-1403.13. Decision and order.
 - § 2-1403.14. Judicial review.
 - § 2-1403.15. Enforcement of order.
 - § 2-1403.16. Private cause of action.
 - § 2-1403.17. Referral to licensing agencies.
- Subchapter IV. Commission on Human Rights.
 - § 2-1404.01. Establishment of the Commission on Human Rights.
 - § 2-1404.02. Purpose and functions.
 - § 2-1404.03. Composition and appointment.
 - § 2-1404.04. Organization.

Unit B. Office of Human Rights.

- § 2-1411.01. Establishment of the Office of Human Rights.
- § 2-1411.02. Purpose.
- § 2-1411.03. Functions.
- § 2-1411.04. Transfers.
- § 2-1411.05. Organization.
- § 2-1411.06. Abolishment of the Department of Human Rights and Local Business Development.

Unit C. Disability Rights Protection.

- § 2-1431.01. Definitions.
- § 2-1431.02. District of Columbia ADA Compliance Program.
- § 2-1431.03. Establishment of the Office of Disability Rights.
- § 2-1431.04. Powers and duties of the Office.
- § 2-1431.05. Plans and reports to be made available to the public.
- § 2-1431.06. Transfer of functions from the Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities.
- § 2-1431.07. Transfer of functions from Office of Risk Management.
- § 2-1431.08. Rulemaking and interagency agreements.

CHAPTER 14. HUMAN RIGHTS.

UNIT A. HUMAN RIGHTS LAW.

SUBCHAPTER I. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

§ 2-1401.01. INTENT OF COUNCIL.

It is the intent of the Council of the District of Columbia, in enacting this chapter, to secure an end in the District of Columbia to discrimination for any reason other than that of individual merit, including, but not limited to, discrimination by reason of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, matriculation, political affiliation, genetic information, disability, source of income, status as a victim of an intrafamily offense, and place of residence or business.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title I, § 101, 24 DCR 6038; June 28, 1994, D.C. Law 10-129, § 2(a), 41 DCR 2583; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(a), 46 DCR 952; Apr. 5, 2005, D.C. Law 15-263, § 2(a), 52 DCR 237; Mar. 8, 2006, D.C. Law 16-58, § 2(a), 53 DCR 14; Mar. 14, 2007, D.C. Law 16-273, § 3(a), 54 DCR 859.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2501.

1973 Ed., § 6-2201.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 15-263 substituted "genetic information, disability," for "disability,".

D.C. Law 16-58 substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression," for "sexual orientation,".

D.C. Law 16-273 inserted "status as a victim of an intrafamily offense," following "source of income,".

Legislative History of Laws

Law 2-38 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 2-179, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on July 26, 1977 and September 13, 1977, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on September 28, 1977, it was assigned Act No. 2-83 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 10-129, the "Human Rights Amendment Act 1994," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 10-298, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Youth Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on March 1, 1994, and April 12, 1994, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on April 28, 1994, it was assigned Act No. 10-228 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 10-129 became effective on June 28, 1994.

Law 12-242, the "Human Rights Amendment Act of 1998," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 12-690, which was referred to the Committee on Government Operations. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 10, 1998, and December 1, 1998, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 23, 1998, it was assigned Act No. 12-575 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 12-242 became effective on April 20, 1999.

Law 15-263, the "Human Rights Genetic Information Amendment Act of 2004", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 15-52, which was referred to the Subcommittee on Human Rights, Latino Affairs and Property. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 9, 2004, and December 7, 2004, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 3, 2005, it was assigned Act No. 15-648 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 15- 263 became effective on April 5, 2005.

Law 16-58, the "Human Rights Clarification Amendment Act of 2005", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 16-389 which was referred to the Committee on Government Operations. The Bill was

adopted on first and second readings on November 1, 2005, and December 6, 2005, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 22, 2005, it was assigned Act No. 16-220 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-58 became effective on March 8, 2006.

Law 16-273, the "Protection from Discriminatory Eviction for Victims of Domestic Violence Amendment Act of 2006", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 16-703, which was referred to Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 5, 2006, and December 19, 2006, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 28, 2006, it was assigned Act No. 16-629 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-273 became effective on March 14, 2007.

Miscellaneous Notes

Establishment of Department of Human Rights and Minority Business Development: See Mayor's Order 89-247, November 1, 1989.

Repeal of Law 12-138: Section 153 of Pub. L. 105-277, 112 Stat. 2681-146, the Omnibus Consolidated and Emergency Supplemental Appropriations Act, 1999, provided that D.C. Law 12-138 is repealed October 21, 1998.

Residency requirement for District employees: Section 2 of D.C. Law 12-138, repealed by § 153 of Pub. L. 105-277, had amended §§ 1-608.1 and 1-609.1 [1-608.01 and 1-608.01a, 2001 Ed.], and enacted § 1-607.51, to require newly-hired District employees in the Career Service, Excepted Service, and Educational Service to establish and maintain residency in the District within 180 days of being hired, and to allow the Mayor to exempt hard to fill positions from the requirements of the act.

Uniform Language in D.C. Government Anti-Discrimination Issuances and Equal Employment Opportunity Notices, see Mayor's Order 2002-149, September 13, 2002 (49 DCR 8613).

Amendment of M.O. 2002-149, dated 8-26-02 - Uniform Language in D.C. Government Anti-Discrimination Issuances and Equal Employment Opportunity Notices, see Mayor's Order 2002-175, November 1, 2002 (49 DCR 9883).

Sexual Harassment, see Mayor's Order 2004-171, October 20, 2004 (51 DCR 10486).

Amendment of Mayor's Order 2002-175, dated October 23, 2002 Uniform Language in D.C. Government Anti-Discrimination Issuances and Equal Employment Opportunity Notices, see Mayor's Order 2006-151, November 6, 2006 (53 DCR 9351).

§ 2-1401.02. DEFINITIONS.

The following words and terms when used in this chapter have the following meanings:

(1) "Administrative Procedure Act" means the "District of Columbia Administrative Procedure Act," (§ 2-501 et seq.).

(2) "Age" means 18 years of age or older.

(3) "Chairman" means the duly appointed Chairman of the District of Columbia Commission on Human Rights.

(4) "Commission" means the Commission on Human Rights, as established under subchapter IV of Unit A of this chapter.

(5) "Council" means the Council of the District of Columbia as established by § 1-204.01(a).

(5A) "Disability" means a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of an individual having a record of such an impairment or being regarded as having such an impairment.

(6) "Director" means the Director of the District of Columbia Office of Human Rights, or a designate.

(7) "District" means the District of Columbia.

(7A) "Domestic partner" shall have the same meaning as provided in § 32-701(3).

(7B) "Domestic partnership" shall have the same meaning as provided in § 32-701(4).

(8) "Educational institution" means any public or private institution including an academy, college, elementary or secondary school, extension course, kindergarten, nursery, school system or university; and a business, nursing, professional, secretarial, technical, or vocational school; and includes an agent of an educational institution.

(9) "Employee" means any individual employed by or seeking employment from an employer; provided, that the term "employee" shall include an unpaid intern.

(10) "Employer" means any person who, for compensation, employs an individual, except for the employer's parent, spouse, children or domestic servants, engaged in work in and about the employer's household; any person acting in the interest of such employer, directly or indirectly; and any

professional association.

(11) "Employment agency" means any person regularly undertaking or attempting, with or without compensation, to procure employees for an employer or to procure for employees, opportunities to work for an employer, and includes an agent of such a person.

(11A) "Familial status" means one or more individuals under 18 years of age being domiciled with: (1) a parent or other person having legal custody of the individual; or (2) the designee, with written authorization of the parent, or other persons having legal custody of individuals under 18 years of age. The protection afforded against discrimination on the basis of familial status shall apply to any person who is pregnant or in the process of securing legal custody of any individual under 18 years of age.

(11B) "Family member" means, with respect to an individual and genetic information, the spouse or domestic partner of the individual, dependent child (whether born to or placed for adoption with the individual), and all other individuals related by blood to the individual, spouse, domestic partner, or child.

(12) "Family responsibilities" means the state of being, or the potential to become, a contributor to the support of a person or persons in a dependent relationship, irrespective of their number, including the state of being the subject of an order of withholding or similar proceedings for the purpose of paying child support or a debt related to child support.

(12A) "Gender identity or expression" means a gender-related identity, appearance, expression, or behavior of an individual, regardless of the individual's assigned sex at birth.

(12A-i) "Genetic information" means information about the presence of any gene, chromosome, protein, or certain metabolites that indicate or confirm that an individual or an individual's family member has a mutation or other genotype that is scientifically or medically believed to cause a disease, disorder, or syndrome, if the information is obtained from a genetic test.

(12B) "Genetic test" means an analysis of human chromosomes, genes, gene products, or genetic information that is used to identify the presence or absence of inherited or congenital alterations in genetic material that are associated with disease or illness. A genetic test shall not include a test for the presence of illegal drugs, routine physical measurements, or chemical, blood or urine analysis, unless conducted purposefully to obtain genetic information.

(12C) "Health benefit plan" means any accident and health insurance policy or certificate, hospital and medical services corporation contract, health maintenance organization subscriber contract, plan provided by a multiple employer welfare arrangement, or plan provided by another benefit arrangement. The term "health care benefit plan" does not mean accident only, credit or disability insurance; coverage of Medicare services or federal employee benefit plans, pursuant to contracts with the United States government; Medicare supplemental or long-term care insurance; dental only or vision only insurance; specified disease insurance; hospital confinement indemnity coverage; limited benefit health coverage; coverage issued as supplemental to liability insurance, insurance arising out of workers compensation or similar law; automobile medical payment insurance; medical expense and loss of income benefits; insurance under which benefits are payable with or without regard to fault and that is statutorily required to be contained in any liability insurance policy or equivalent self-insurance; or life insurance.

(12D) "Health insurer" means any person that provides one or more health benefits plans, or insurance in the District of Columbia, including an insurer, a hospital and medical services corporation, a fraternal benefits society, a health maintenance organization, a multiple employer welfare arrangement, or any other person providing a plan of health insurance subject to the authority of the Commissioner of the Department of Insurance, Securities, and Banking.

(13) "Hearing tribunal" means members of the Commission, or 1 or more hearing examiners, appointed by the Commission to conduct a hearing.

(14) "Housing business" means a business operated under the authority of a license issued by the Mayor, or other authorized District agent, pursuant to § 47-2828 and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

(14A) "Intrafamily offense" means an offense as defined in § 16-1001(8).

(15) "Labor organization" means any organization, agency, employee representation committee, group, association, or plan in which employees participate directly or indirectly; and which exists for the purpose, in whole or in part, of dealing with employers, or any agent thereof, concerning grievances, labor disputes, wages, rates of pay, hours, or other terms, conditions, or privileges of employment; and any conference, general committee, joint or system board, or joint council, which is subordinate to a national or international organization.

(16) "Make public" means disclosure to the public or to the news media of any personal or business data obtained during the course of an investigation of a complaint filed under the provisions of this chapter, but not to include the publication of EEO-1, EEO-2, or EEO-3 reports as required by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or any other data in the course of any administrative or judicial proceeding under this chapter; or any judicial proceeding under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964

involving such information; nor shall it include access to such data by staff or the Office of Human Rights, members of the Commission on Human Rights, or parties to a proceeding, nor shall it include publication of aggregated data from individual reports.

(17) "Marital status" means the state of being married, in a domestic partnership, single, divorced, separated, or widowed and the usual conditions associated therewith, including pregnancy or parenthood.

(18) "Matriculation" means the condition of being enrolled in a college, or university; or in a business, nursing, professional, secretarial, technical or vocational school; or in an adult education program.

(19) "Office" means the District of Columbia Office of Human Rights, established by § 2-1411.01.

(20)(A) "Owner" means 1 of the following:

(i) Any person, or any one of a number of persons in whom is vested all or any part of the legal or equitable ownership, dominion, or title to any real property;

(ii) The committee, conservator, or any other legal guardian of a person who for any reason is non sui juris, in whom is vested the legal or equitable ownership, dominion or title to any real property; or

(iii) A trustee, elected or appointed or required by law to execute a trust, other than a trustee under a deed of trust to secure the payment of money; or one who, as agent of, or fiduciary, or officer appointed by the court for the estate of the person defined in sub-subparagraph (i) of this subparagraph shall have charge, care or control of any real property.

(B) The term "owner" shall also include the lessee, the sublessee, assignee, managing agent, or other person having the right of ownership or possession of, or the right to sell, rent or lease, any real property.

(21) "Person" means any individual, firm, partnership, mutual company, joint-stock company, corporation, association, organization, unincorporated organization, labor union, government agency, incorporated society, statutory or common-law trust, estate, executor, administrator, receiver, trustee, conservator, liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, committee, assignee, officer, employee, principal or agent, legal or personal representative, real estate broker or salesman or any agent or representative of any of the foregoing.

(22) "Personal appearance" means the outward appearance of any person, irrespective of sex, with regard to bodily condition or characteristics, manner or style of dress, and manner or style of personal grooming, including, but not limited to, hair style and beards. It shall not relate, however, to the requirement of cleanliness, uniforms, or prescribed standards, when uniformly applied for admittance to a public accommodation, or when uniformly applied to a class of employees for a reasonable business purpose; or when such bodily conditions or characteristics, style or manner of dress or personal grooming presents a danger to the health, welfare or safety of any individual.

(23) Repealed.

(24) "Place of public accommodation" means all places included in the meaning of such terms as inns, taverns, road houses, hotels, motels, whether conducted for the entertainment of transient guests or for the accommodation of those seeking health, recreation or rest; restaurants or eating houses, or any place where food is sold for consumption on the premises; buffets, saloons, barrooms, or any store, park or enclosure where spirituous or malt liquors are sold; ice cream parlors, confectioneries, soda fountains and all stores where ice cream, ice and fruit preparation or their derivatives, or where beverages of any kind are retailed for consumption on the premises; wholesale and retail stores, and establishments dealing with goods or services of any kind, including, but not limited to, the credit facilities thereof; banks, savings and loan associations, establishments of mortgage bankers and brokers, all other financial institutions, and credit information bureaus; insurance companies and establishments of insurance policy brokers; dispensaries, clinics, hospitals, bath-houses, swimming pools, laundries and all other cleaning establishments; barber shops, beauty parlors, theaters, motion picture houses, airdromes, roof gardens, music halls, race courses, skating rinks, amusement and recreation parks, trailer camps, resort camps, fairs, bowling alleys, golf courses, gymnasiums, shooting galleries, billiards and pool parlors; garages, all public conveyances operated on land or water or in the air, as well as the stations and terminals thereof; travel or tour advisory services, agencies or bureaus; public halls and public elevators of buildings and structures, occupied by 2 or more tenants, or by the owner and 1 or more tenants. Such term shall not include any institution, club, or place of accommodation which is in its nature distinctly private except, that any such institution, club or place of accommodation shall be subject to the provisions of § 2-1402.67. A place of accommodation, institution, or club shall not be considered in its nature distinctly private if the place of accommodation, institution, or club:

- (A) Has 350 or more members;
- (B) Serves meals on a regular basis; and
- (C) Regularly receives payment for dues, fees, use of space, facilities, services, meals, or

beverages directly or indirectly from or on behalf of nonmembers for the furtherance of trade or business.

(25) "Political affiliation" means the state of belonging to or endorsing any political party.

(26) "Real estate broker (or salesperson)" means any person licensed as such in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of Title 42.

(27) "Real Estate Commission" means the Real Estate Commission of the District of Columbia established by § 42-1739.

(28) "Sexual orientation" means male or female homosexuality, heterosexuality and bisexuality, by preference or practice.

(29) "Source of income" means the point, the cause, or the form of the origination, or transmittal of gains of property accruing to a person in a stated period of time; including, but not limited to, money and property secured from any occupation, profession or activity, from any contract, agreement or settlement, from federal payments, court-ordered payments, from payments received as gifts, bequests, annuities, life insurance policies and compensation for illness or injury, except in a case where conflict of interest may exist.

(30) "Transaction in real property" means the exhibiting, listing, advertising, negotiating, agreeing to transfer or transferring, whether by sale, lease, sublease, rent, assignment or other agreement, any interest in real property or improvements thereon, including, but not limited to, leaseholds and other real chattels.

(31) "Unlawful discriminatory practice" means those discriminatory practices which are so specified in subchapter II of Unit A of this chapter. "Unlawful discriminatory practice" shall include harassment engaged in for discriminatory reasons specified in § 2-1402.11(a).

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title I, § 102, 24 DCR 6038; Mar. 10, 1983, D.C. Law 4-209, § 35(a)(1), 30 DCR 390; Feb. 24, 1987, D.C. Law 6-166, § 33(c), 33 DCR 6710; Dec. 10, 1987, D.C. Law 7-50, § 2, 34 DCR 6887; June 28, 1994, D.C. Law 10-129, § 2(b), 41 DCR 2583; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(b), 46 DCR 952; Apr. 12, 2000, D.C. Law 13-91, § 159(a), 47 DCR 520; June 19, 2001, D.C. Law 13-313, § 7, 48 DCR 1873; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(a), 49 DCR 6523; Dec. 7, 2004, D.C. Law 15-216, § 2(a), 51 DCR 9123; Apr. 5, 2005, D.C. Law 15-263, § 2(b), 52 DCR 237; Apr. 8, 2005, D.C. Law 15-263, § 2(b), 53 DCR 14; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-191, § 123, 53 DCR 6794; Mar. 14, 2007, D.C. Law 16-273, § 3(b), 54 DCR 859; Sept. 12, 2008, D.C. Law 17-231, § 7, 55 DCR 6758; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-368, § 4(a)(1), 56 DCR 1338; Mar. 3, 2010, D.C. Law 18-111, § 1151, 57 DCR 181.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2502.

1973 Ed., § 6-2202.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 13-91 validated a previously made technical correction in par. (11A).

D.C. Law 13-313 rewrote par. (19) which had read:

"(19) 'Office' means the District of Columbia Office of Human Rights, as established by Commissioner's Order No. 71-224, dated July 8, 1971, as amended."

D.C. Law 14-189 rewrote par. (31) which had read as follows:

"'Unlawful discriminatory practice' means those discriminatory practices which are so specified in subchapter Il of Unit A of this chapter."

D.C. Law 15-216, in par. (4), substituted "Commission on Human Rights, as established under subchapter IV of Unit A of this chapter" for "District of Columbia Commission on Human Rights, as established by Commissioner's Order No. 71-224, dated July 8, 1971".

D.C. Law 15-263 added pars. (11B), (12A) to (12D).

D.C. Law 15-309, in par. (17), substituted "in a domestic partnership, single, divorced" for "single, divorced".

D.C. Law 16-58 designated the existing text of par. (12A) as (12A-i); and added par. (12A).

D.C. Law 16-191, in par. (12A-i), validated a previously made technical correction.

D.C. Law 16-273 added par. (14A).

D.C. Law 17-231 added subsecs. (7A) and (7B); and rewrote subsec. (11B), which had read as follows:

"(11B) 'Family member' means, with respect to an individual and genetic information, the spouse of the individual, dependent child (whether born to or placed for adoption with the individual), and all other individuals

related by blood to the individual, spouse, or child."

D.C. Law 17-368, in par. (14A), substituted "§ 16-1001(8)" for "§ 16-1001(5)".

D.C. Law 18-111, in par. (9), inserted "; provided, that the term 'employee' shall include an unpaid intern".

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 1151 of Fiscal Year 2010 Budget Support Second Emergency Act of 2009 (D.C. Act 18-207, October 15, 2009, 56 DCR 8234).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 1151 of Fiscal Year Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2009 (D.C. Act 18-260, January 4, 2010, 57 DCR 345).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.

Law 4-209 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 4-230, which was referred to the Committee on Housing and Economic Development. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 16, 1982, and December 14, 1982, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 28, 1982, it was assigned Act No. 4-299 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 6-166 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 6-134, which was referred to the Committee on Human Services. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on July 8, 1986 and September 23, 1986, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on October 9, 1986, it was assigned Act No. 6-212 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 7-50 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 7-157, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on July 14, 1987 and September 29, 1987, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on October 16, 1987, it was assigned Act No. 7-83 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-129, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 13-91, the "Technical Amendments Act of 1999," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 13-435, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 2, 1999, and December 7, 1999, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 29, 1999, it was assigned Act No. 13-234 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 13-91 became effective on April 12, 2000.

Law 13-313, the "Technical Amendment Act of 2000," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 13-879, which was referred to the Committee on the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 5, 2000, and December 19, 2000, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 19, 2001, it was assigned Act No. 13-574 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 13-313 became effective on June 19, 2001.

Law 14-189, the "Human Rights Amendment Act of 2002", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 14-132, which was referred to the Committee on Human Rights, Latino Affairs and Property. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 7, 2002, and June 4, 2002, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on June 26, 2002, it was assigned Act No. 14-399 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 14-189 became effective on October 1, 2002.

Law 15-216, the "Commission on Human Rights Establishment Amendment Act of 2004", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 15-51, which was referred to the Subcommittee on Human Rights, Latino Affairs and Property. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 29, 2004, and July 13, 2004, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on August 2, 2004, it was assigned Act No. 15-521 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 15-216 became effective on December 7, 2004.

For Law 15-263, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 15-309, the "Domestic Partnership Protection Amendment Act of 2004", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 15-1075, which was referred to the Subcommittee on Human Rights, Latino Affairs and Property. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 9, 2004, and December 7, 2004, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 4, 2005, it was assigned Act No. 15-706 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 15- 309 became effective on April 8, 2005.

For Law 16-58, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 16-191, see notes following § 2-1217.71.

For Law 16-273, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 17-231, the "Omnibus Domestic Partnership Equality Amendment Act of 2008", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-135, which was referred to the Committee on Public Safety and the Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on April 1, 2008, and May 6, 2008, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on June 6, 2008, it was assigned Act No. 17-403 and transmitted to both Houses of

Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-231 became effective on September 12, 2008.

Law 17-368, the "Intrafamily Offenses Act of 2008", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-55 which was referred to the Committee on Public Safety and Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 2, 2008, and December 16, 2008, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 22, 2009, it was assigned Act No. 17-703 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-368 became effective on March 25, 2009.

For Law 18-111, see notes following § 2-218.50.

Miscellaneous Notes

Short title: Section 1150 of D.C. Law 18-111 provided that subtitle P of title I of the act may be cited as the "Intern Anti-Discrimination Amendment Act of 2009".

§ 2-1401.03. EXCEPTIONS.

(a) Any practice which has a discriminatory effect and which would otherwise be prohibited by this chapter shall not be deemed unlawful if it can be established that such practice is not intentionally devised or operated to contravene the prohibitions of this chapter and can be justified by business necessity. Under this chapter, a "business necessity" exception is applicable only in each individual case where it can be proved by a respondent that, without such exception, such business cannot be conducted; a "business necessity" exception cannot be justified by the facts of increased cost to business, business efficiency, the comparative characteristics of one group as opposed to another, the stereotyped characterization of one group as opposed to another, and the preferences of co-workers, employers, customers or any other person. The business necessity exemption is inapplicable to complaints of unlawful discrimination in residential real estate transactions and to complaints alleging violations of the Fair Housing Act, approved April 11, 1968 (42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.)(" FHA").

(b) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to bar any religious or political organization, or any organization operated for charitable or educational purposes, which is operated, supervised or controlled by or in connection with a religious or political organization, from limiting employment, or admission to or giving preference to persons of the same religion or political persuasion as is calculated by the organization to promote the religious or political principles for which it is established or maintained.

(c) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to supersede any federal rule, regulation or act.

(d) Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any religious organization, association, or society or non-profit organization which is operated, supervised or controlled by or in conjunction with a religious organization, association or society from limiting the sales, rental or occupancy of housing accommodations which it owns or operates for other than a commercial purpose to members of the same religion or organization, or from giving preference to these persons, unless the entity restricts its membership on the basis of race, color, or national origin. This chapter does not prohibit a private club, not open to the public, which incident to its primary purpose, provides lodgings which it owns or operates for other than a commercial purpose, from limiting the rental or occupancy of these lodgings to its members or from giving preference to its members.

(e) Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit an employer, an employment agency, or a labor organization from seeking, obtaining, or using genetic information to determine the existence of a bona fide occupational qualification reasonably necessary for the normal operation of an employer's business or enterprise; provided, that the employee or applicant for employment provides, in writing, his or her informed consent, the genetic information is provided to the employee or applicant for employment in writing as soon as it is available, and the genetic information is not disclosed to any other person.

(f) Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit an employer from seeking, obtaining, or using genetic information about an employee to:

(1) Investigate a workers' compensation or disability compensation claim; or

(2) Determine an employee's susceptibility or level of exposure to potentially toxic substances in the workplace; provided, that the employee provides, in writing, his or her informed consent, and the genetic information is provided to the employee in writing as soon as it is available, and the genetic information is not disclosed to any other person.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title I, § 103, 24 DCR 6038; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(c), 46 DCR 952; Apr. 12, 2000, D.C. Law 13-91, § 159(b), 47 DCR 520; Apr. 5, 2005, D.C. Law 15-263, § 2(c), 52 DCR 237.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2503.

1973 Ed., § 6-2203.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 13-91 validated a previously made technical correction in subsec. (d).

D.C. Law 15-263 added subsecs. (e) and (f).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 13-91, see notes following § 2-1209.06.

For Law 15-263, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1401.04. SEVERABILITY OF PROVISIONS.

If any provision, or part thereof of this chapter or application thereof to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of the chapter and the application of the provision, or part thereof, to other persons not similarly situated or to other circumstances is not to be affected thereby.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title I, § 104, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2504.

1973 Ed., § 6-2204.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1401.05. DISCRIMINATION BASED ON PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH, RELATED MEDICAL CONDITIONS, OR BREASTFEEDING.

(a) For the purposes of interpreting this chapter, discrimination on the basis of sex shall include, but not be limited to, discrimination on the basis of pregnancy, childbirth, related medical conditions, or breastfeeding.

(b) Women affected by pregnancy, childbirth, related medical conditions, or breastfeeding shall be treated the same for all employment-related purposes, including receipt of benefits under fringe benefit programs, as other persons not so affected but similar in their ability or inability to work, and this requirement shall include, but not be limited to, a requirement that an employer must treat an employee temporarily unable to perform the functions of her job because of her pregnancy-related condition in the same manner as it treats other employees with temporary disabilities.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title I, § 105, as added July 17, 1985, D.C. Law 6-8, § 2, 32 DCR 2959; Apr. 24, 2007, D.C. Law 16-305, § 10, 53 DCR 6198; Dec. 11, 2007, D.C. Law 17-58, § 2(a), 54 DCR 10714.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2505.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-305, in subsec. (b), substituted "employees with temporary disabilities" for "temporarily disabled employees".

D.C. Law 17-58, in the section heading and subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "related medical conditions, or breastfeeding" for "or related medical conditions".

Legislative History of Laws

Law 6-8, the "Pregnancy Anti-Discrimination Act of 1985," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 6-45, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Cable Television. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on April 16, 1985 and April 30, 1985, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on May 16, 1985, it was assigned Act No. 6-21 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For Law 16-305, see notes following § 2-301.07.

Law 17-58, the "Child's Right to Nurse Human Rights Amendment Act of 2007", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-133 which was referred to the Committee on Workforce Development and

Government Operations. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on July 10, 2007, and October 2, 2007, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on October 17, 2007, it was assigned Act No. 17-132 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-58 became effective on December 11, 2007.

SUBCHAPTER II. PROHIBITED ACTS OF DISCRIMINATION.

PART A. GENERAL.

§ 2-1402.01. GENERAL.

Every individual shall have an equal opportunity to participate fully in the economic, cultural and intellectual life of the District and to have an equal opportunity to participate in all aspects of life, including, but not limited to, in employment, in places of public accommodation, resort or amusement, in educational institutions, in public service, and in housing and commercial space accommodations.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 201, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2511.

1973 Ed., § 6-2211.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Miscellaneous Notes

Establishment of Department of Human Rights and Minority Business Development: See Mayor's Order 89-247, November 1, 1989.

PART B. EMPLOYMENT.

§ 2-1402.11. PROHIBITIONS.

(a) *General.* -- It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the following acts, wholly or partially for a discriminatory reason based upon the actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, family responsibilities, genetic information, disability, matriculation, or political affiliation of any individual:

(1) By an employer. -- To fail or refuse to hire, or to discharge, any individual; or otherwise to discriminate against any individual, with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, including promotion; or to limit, segregate, or classify his employees in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of employment opportunities, or otherwise adversely affect his status as an employee;

(2) By an employment agency. -- To fail or refuse to refer for employment, or to classify or refer for employment, any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against, any individual; or

(3) By a labor organization. -- To exclude or to expel from its membership, or otherwise to discriminate against, any individual; or to limit, segregate, or classify its membership; or to classify, or fail, or refuse to refer for employment any individual in any way, which would deprive such individual of employment opportunities, or would limit such employment opportunities, or otherwise adversely affect his status as an employee or as an applicant for employment; or

(4) By an employer, employment agency or labor organization. -- (A) To discriminate against any individual in admission to or the employment in, any program established to provide apprenticeship or other training or retraining, including an on-the-job training program;

(B) To print or publish, or cause to be printed or published, any notice or advertisement, or use any publication form, relating to employment by such an employer, or to membership in, or any classification or referral for employment by such a labor organization, or to any classification or referral for employment by such an employment agency, unlawfully indicating any preference, limitation, specification, or distinction, based on the race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, family responsibilities, matriculation, genetic information, disability, or political affiliation of any individual.

(C) To request or require a genetic test of, or administer a genetic test to, any individual as a condition of employment, application for employment, or membership, or to seek to obtain, obtain, or use genetic information of an employee or applicant for employment or membership.

(b) Subterfuge. -- It shall further be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the above said acts for any reason that would not have been asserted but for, wholly or partially, a discriminatory reason based on the actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, family responsibilities, matriculation, genetic information, disability, or political affiliation of any individual.

(c) Accommodation for religious observance. -- (1) It shall further be an unlawful discriminatory practice for an employer to refuse to make a reasonable accommodation for an employee's religious observance by permitting the employee to make up work time lost due to such observance, unless such an accommodation would cause the employer undue hardship. An accommodation would cause an employer undue hardship when it would cause the employer to incur more than de minimis costs.

- (2) Such an accommodation may be made by permitting the employee to work:
 - (A) During the employee's scheduled lunch time or other work breaks;
 - (B) Before or after the employee's usual working hours;
 - (C) Outside of the employer's normal business hours;
 - (D) During the employee's paid vacation days;

(E) During another employee's working hours as part of a voluntary swap with such other employee; or

(F) In any other manner that is mutually agreeable to the employer and employee.

(3) When an employee's request for a particular form of accommodation would cause undue hardship to the employer, the employer shall reasonably accommodate the employee in a manner that does not cause undue hardship to the employer. Where other means of accommodation would cause undue hardship to the employer, an employee shall have the option of taking leave without pay if granting leave without pay would not cause undue hardship to the employer.

(4) An employee shall notify the employer of the need for an accommodation at least 10 working days prior to the day or days for which the accommodation is needed, unless the need for the accommodation cannot reasonably be foreseen.

(5) In any proceeding brought under this section, the employer shall have the burden of establishing that it would be unable reasonably to accommodate an employee's religious observance without incurring an undue hardship, provided, however, that in the case of an employer that employs more than 5 but fewer than 15 full-time employees, or where accommodation of an employee's observance of a religious practice would require the employee to take more than 3 consecutive days off from work, the employee shall have the burden of establishing that the employer could reasonably accommodate the employee's religious observance without incurring an undue hardship; and provided further, that it shall be considered an undue hardship if an employer would be required to pay any additional compensation to an employee by reason of an accommodation for an employee's religious observance. The mere assumption that other employees with the same religious beliefs might also request accommodation shall not be considered evidence of undue hardship. An employer that employs 5 or fewer full-time employees shall be exempt from the provisions of this subsection.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 211, 24 DCR 6038; Mar. 17, 1993, D.C. Law 9-211, § 2, 40 DCR 21; June 28, 1994, D.C. Law 10-129, § 2(c), 41 DCR 2583; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(b), 49 DCR 6523; Apr. 5, 2005, D.C. Law 15-263, § 2(d), 52 DCR 237; Mar. 8, 2006, D.C. Law 16-58, § 2(c), 53 DCR 14.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2512.

1973 Ed., § 6-2221.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 14-189, in subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "actual or perceived: race" for "race".

D.C. Law 15-263, in subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "genetic information, disability," for "disability,"; and added subpar. (C) of par. (4) of subsec. (a).

D.C. Law 16-58, in the lead-in language of subsec. (a), subsec. (a)(4)(B), and subsec. (b), substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression," for "sexual orientation,".

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 9-211, the "Human Rights Act of 1977 Religious Observance Accommodation Amendment Act of 1992," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 9-276, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 4, 1992, and December 1, 1992, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 21, 1992, it was assigned Act No. 9-340 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 9-211 became effective on March 17, 1993.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-129, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 1-2501.

For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

For Law 15-263, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 16-58, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.12. EXCEPTION.

(a) It shall not be an unlawful discriminatory practice for an employer to observe the conditions of a bona fide seniority system or a bona fide employee benefit system such as retirement, pension or insurance plan which is not a subterfuge to evade the purposes of this chapter, except that no such employee seniority system or benefit plan shall excuse the failure to hire any individual.

(b) It shall not be an unlawful discriminatory practice for the District of Columbia to prescribe minimum and maximum age limits for appointment to the police officer and firefighter cadet programs.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 212, 24 DCR 6038; Mar. 9, 1983, D.C. Law 4-172, § 4(a), 29 DCR 5745.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2513.

1973 Ed., § 6-2222.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 4-172 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 4-421, which was referred to the Committee on the Judiciary and the Committee on Education. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 19, 1982, and November 16, 1982, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 8, 1982, it was assigned Act No. 4-254 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

§ 2-1402.13. REPORTS AND RECORDS.

Every employer, employment agency, and labor organization, subject both to this chapter and to title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, is to furnish to the Office, all reports that may be required by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission established under the Civil Rights Act of 1964.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 213, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2514.

1973 Ed., § 6-2223.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

PART C. HOUSING AND COMMERCIAL SPACE.

§ 2-1402.21. PROHIBITIONS.

(a) General. -- It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the following acts, wholly or partially for a discriminatory reason based on the actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, disability, matriculation, political affiliation, source of income, status as a victim of an intrafamily offense, or place of residence or business of any individual:

(1) To interrupt or terminate, or refuse or fail to initiate or conduct any transaction in real property; or to require different terms for such transaction; or to represent falsely that an interest in real property is not available for transaction;

(2) To include in the terms or conditions of a transaction in real property, any clause, condition or restriction;

(3) To appraise a property, refuse to lend money, guarantee a loan, purchase a loan, accept residential real property as security for a loan, accept a deed of trust or mortgage, or otherwise refuse to make funds available for the purchase, acquisition, construction, alteration, rehabilitation, repair or maintenance of real property; or impose different conditions on such financing; or refuse to provide title or other insurance relating to the ownership or use of any interest in real property;

(4) To refuse or restrict facilities, services, repairs or improvements for a tenant or lessee;

(5) To make, print, or publish, or cause to be made, printed, or published any notice, statement, or advertisement, with respect to a transaction, or proposed transaction, in real property, or financing relating thereto, which notice, statement, or advertisement unlawfully indicates or attempts unlawfully to indicate any preference, limitation, or discrimination based on race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, disability, matriculation, political affiliation, source of income, or place of residence or business, of any individual;

(6) To discriminate in any financial transaction involving real property, on account of the location of residence or business (i.e. to "red-line"); or

(7) To limit access to, or membership or participation in any multiple-listing service, real estate brokers' organization or other service, organization, or facility relating to the business of selling or renting residential real estate, or to discriminate against any person in terms or conditions of access, membership or participation in any organization, service or facility.

(b) Subterfuge. -- It shall further be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the above said acts for any reason that would not have been asserted but for, wholly or partially, a discriminatory reason based on the actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, disability, matriculation, political affiliation, source of income, status as victim of an intrafamily offense, or place of residence or business of any individual.

(c) *Families with children.* -- (1) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the acts prohibited in subsections (a) and (b) of this section wholly or partially based on the fact that a person has one or more children who reside with that person.

(2) There shall be a rebuttable presumption that an unlawful discriminatory practice has occurred if the person alleging discrimination has 1 or more children who reside with that person and any of the acts prohibited by subsections (a) and (b) of this section are done to maintain residential occupancies more restrictive than the following:

(A) In an efficiency apartment, 2 persons; or

(B) In an apartment with one or more bedrooms, 2 times the number of bedrooms plus one.

(3) Nothing contained in this chapter limits the applicability of any District or federal restriction regarding the maximum number of occupants permitted to occupy a dwelling. Nothing in this chapter regarding familial status applies to housing for older persons.

(4) For the purposes of this subsection "housing for older persons" means a premises which:

(A) The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development determines pursuant to a federal program, is specifically designed and operated to assist older persons;

(B) Is intended for, and solely occupied by persons 62 years of age or older; or

(C) Is intended and operated for occupancy by persons 55 years of age or older, provided that at least 80% of the occupied units are occupied by at least one person who is 55 years of age or older, and the housing facility or community publishes and adheres to policies and procedures that demonstrate the intent required pursuant to this paragraph, and complies with rules issued by the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for verification of occupancy.

(d) *Disability.* -- (1) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice in the sale or rental of real estate to deny a dwelling to a buyer or renter or to otherwise make a dwelling unavailable to a buyer or renter because of a disability of:

(A) That buyer or renter; or

(B) Any person residing in or intending to reside in that dwelling after it is sold, rented or made available; or any person associated with that buyer or renter.

(2) It shall be unlawful to discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling or in the provision of services or facilities in connection with the dwelling

because of a disability of:

(A) That buyer or renter; or

(B) Any person residing in or intending to reside in that dwelling after it is sold, rented or made available; or any person associated with that buyer or renter.

(3) For purposes of this subsection, "unlawful discrimination" includes:

(A) A refusal to permit, at the expense of the person with the disability, reasonable modifications of existing premises occupied or to be occupied by the person if the modification may be necessary to afford the person full enjoyment of the premises of a dwelling. A landlord, where it is reasonable, may condition permission for a modification on the renter agreeing to restore the interior of the premises to the condition that existed before the modification, reasonable wear and tear excepted;

(B) A refusal to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when these accommodations may be necessary to afford any person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling;

(C) In connection with the design and construction of covered multifamily dwellings for first occupancy after April 20, 1999, a failure to design and construct these dwellings in a manner that:

(i) The public and common use portions of the dwellings are readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities; and

(ii) Doors designed to allow passage into and within all premises within the dwellings are sufficiently wide to allow passage by persons with wheelchairs;

(D) All premises within the dwellings shall contain the following features of adaptive design:

(i) An accessible route into and through the dwelling;

(ii) Light switches, electrical outlets, thermostats, and other environmental controls in accessible locations;

(iii) Reinforcements in bathroom walls to allow later installations of grab bars;

(iv) Usable kitchens and bathrooms so that an individual in a wheelchair can maneuver about the space; and

(v) The premises within the dwellings shall have at least 1 building entrance on an accessible route unless it is impracticable because of the terrain or unusual characteristics of the site.

(4) Compliance with the appropriate requirements of the American National Standard for buildings and facilities providing accessibility and usability for persons with disabilities suffices to satisfy the requirements of paragraph (3) of this subsection.

(5) Nothing in this subsection requires that a dwelling be made available to an individual whose tenancy would constitute a direct threat to the health or safety of other individuals or whose tenancy would result in substantial physical damage to the property of others.

(e) The monetary assistance provided to an owner of a housing accommodation under section 8 of the United States Housing Act of 1937, approved August 22, 1974 (88 Stat. 662; 42 U.S.C. § 1437f), either directly or through a tenant, shall be considered a source of income under this section.

(f) Victims of intrafamily offenses --

(1) For purposes of this subsection, the term "record" means documentation produced by a law enforcement officer, as defined in § 4-1301.02(14), or a court order pursuant to § 16-1005.

(2) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the acts prohibited in subsections (a) and (b) of this section wholly or partially based on the fact that a person residing, or intending to reside, in the dwelling is, has a record of being, a victim of an intrafamily offense, as defined in § 16-1001(8).

(3) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the following additional acts, for purposes of this subsection, wholly or partially based on the fact that a person residing, or intending to reside, in the dwelling is, or has a record of being, a victim of an intrafamily offense, as defined in § 16-1001(8):

(A) Refusing to make a reasonable accommodation in restoring or improving security and safety measures beyond the housing provider's duty of ordinary care and diligence, the costs of which the housing provide may charge to the tenant, when an accommodation is necessary to ensure the person's security and safety;

(B) Refusing to permit a person to terminate the lease of the premises early, without penalty, upon notice to the landlord and upon a showing that the person is a victim of an intrafamily offense, pursuant to § 42-3505.07;

(C)(i) Barring or limiting the right of a person to call for police or emergency assistance, which right, for purposes of this subsection, shall not be waivable; or

(ii) Imposing any penalty for calling police or emergency assistance.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 221, 24 DCR 6038; July 26, 1980, D.C. Law 3-80, § 2, 27 DCR 2554; June 28, 1994, D.C. Law 10-129, § 2(d), 41 DCR 2583; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(d), 46 DCR 952; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(c), 49 DCR 6523; Apr. 13, 2005, D.C. Law 15-354, § 8(a), 52 DCR 2638; Mar. 8, 2006, D.C. Law 16-58, § 2(d), 53 DCR 14; Mar. 14, 2007, D.C. Law 16-273, § 3(c), 54 DCR 859; Apr. 24, 2007, D.C. Law 16-305, § 11, 53 DCR 6198; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-368, § 4(a)(2), 56 DCR 1338.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2515.

1973 Ed., § 6-2231.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 14-189, in subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "actual or perceived: race" for "race".

D.C. Law 15-354 added subsec. (e).

D.C. Law 16-58, in the lead-in language of subsec. (a), subsec. (a)(5), and subsec. (b), substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression," for "sexual orientation,".

D.C. Law 16-273, in subsecs. (a) and (b), inserted "status as a victim of an intrafamily offense" following "source of income"; and added subsec. (f).

D.C. Law 16-305 substituted "persons with disabilities" for "disabled persons", throughout the section.

D.C. Law 17-368, in subsecs. (f)(2) and (3), substituted "§ 16-1001(8)" for "§ 16-1001(5)".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 3-80 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 3-74, which was referred to the Committee on Public Safety and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on April 22, 1980 and May 6, 1980, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on May 23, 1980, it was assigned Act No. 3- 191 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-129, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

For Law 15-354, see notes following § 2-534.

For Law 16-58, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 16-273, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 16-305, see notes following § 2-301.07.

For Law 17-368, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

§ 2-1402.22. BLOCKBUSTING AND STEERING.

It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for any person, whether or not acting for monetary gain, directly or indirectly to engage in the practices of "blockbusting" and "steering", including, but not limited to, the commission of any 1 or more of the following acts:

(1) To promote, induce, influence, or attempt to promote, induce, or influence a transaction in real property through any representation, means or device whatsoever calculated to induce a person to discriminate or to engage in such transaction wholly or partially in response to discrimination, prejudice, fear or unrest adduced by such means, device or representation;

(2) To place a sign, or display any other device, either purporting to offer or tending to lead to the belief that an offer is being made for a transaction in real property that is not in fact available or offered for transaction, or which purports that any transaction in real property has occurred that in fact has not.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 222, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2516.

1973 Ed., § 6-2232.

Legislative History of Laws

§ 2-1402.23. ACTS OF DISCRIMINATION BY BROKER OR SALESPERSON.

Any real estate broker or real estate salesperson who commits any act of discrimination prohibited under the provisions of this chapter, if such act or the property involved is within the District of Columbia, or if such act occurs outside of the District of Columbia, in a place where such act is prohibited by state or local law, ordinance or regulation, without regard to location of the property, shall be considered by the Real Estate Commission, for the purposes of Chapter 17 of Title 42, as having endangered the public interest; and shall be subject to the procedures set forth in § 2-1403.17.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 223, 24 DCR 6038; Mar. 10, 1983, D.C. Law 4-209, § 35(a)(2), 30 DCR 390.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2517.

1973 Ed., § 6-2233.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 4-209 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 4-230, which was referred to the Committee on Housing and Economic Development. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 16, 1982, and December 14, 1982, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 28, 1982, it was assigned Act No. 4-299 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

§ 2-1402.24. EXCEPTIONS.

(a) Nothing in this chapter is to be construed to apply to the rental or leasing of housing accommodations in a building in which the owner, or members of his family occupy one of the living units and in which there are, or the owner intends that there be, accommodations for not more than:

(1) Four families, and only with respect to a prospective tenant, not related to the owner-occupant, with whom the owner-occupant anticipates the necessity of sharing a kitchen or bathroom; or

(2) Two families living independently of each other.

(b) Nothing contained in the provisions of this chapter shall be deemed to permit any rental or occupancy otherwise prohibited by any statute, or by any regulation previously enacted and not repealed herein.

(c) Nothing in this chapter shall apply to the sale or rental of a single-family home sold or rented by an owner if:

(1) The owner does not own more than 3 single-family homes at any one time; or own any interest in, or has owned or reserved on his behalf, under any express or voluntary agreement, title to any right to all or a portion of the proceeds from the sale or rental of more than 3 single-family homes at any one time. This exemption shall apply only to one sale within a 24-month period of the sale of any single-family home by a private owner not residing in that home at the time of the sale or who was not the most recent resident of that home prior to the sale.

(2) The home was sold or rented without:

(A) The use of the sales or rental facilities or services of a real estate broker, agent, or salesperson, or of the facilities or services of any person in the business of selling or renting dwellings, or of any employee or agent, or salesperson; and

(B) Without the publication, posting or mailing, after notice, of any advertisement in violation of § 2-1402.21(a)(5).

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 224, 24 DCR 6038; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(e), 46 DCR 952.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2518.

1973 Ed., § 6-2234.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01. For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

PART D. PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS.

§ 2-1402.31. PROHIBITIONS.

(a) General. It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to do any of the following acts, wholly or partially for a discriminatory reason based on the actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, genetic information, disability, matriculation, political affiliation, source of income, or place of residence or business of any individual:

(1) To deny, directly or indirectly, any person the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and accommodations of any place of public accommodations;

(2) To print, circulate, post, or mail, or otherwise cause, directly or indirectly, to be published a statement, advertisement, or sign which indicates that the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and accommodations of a place of public accommodation will be unlawfully refused, withheld from or denied an individual; or that an individual's patronage of, or presence at, a place of public accommodation is objectional, unwelcome, unacceptable, or undesirable.

(3) A health benefit plan or health insurer shall not establish rules for the eligibility, new or continued, of any individual or adjust premium or contribution amounts for an individual on the basis of genetic information concerning the individual or family member of the individual, including information about a request for or receipt of genetic services by an individual or the individual's family member.

(4) A health benefit plan or health insurer shall not request or require an individual or the individual's family member to undergo a genetic test. Nothing in this paragraph shall:

(A) Limit the authority of a health care professional who is providing health care services to an individual to request that the individual or the individual's family member undergo a genetic test;

(B) Limit the authority of a health care professional who is employed by or affiliated with a health benefit plan or a health insurer and who is providing health care services to an individual to notify such individual of the availability of a genetic test or to provide information to such individual regarding such genetic test; or

(C) Authorize or permit a health care professional to require that an individual undergo a genetic test.

(b) Subterfuge. It is further unlawful to do any of the above said acts for any reason that would not have been asserted but for, wholly or partially, a discriminatory reason based on the actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, genetic information, disability, matriculation, political affiliation, source of income, or place of residence or business of any individual.

(c) Repealed.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 231, 24 DCR 6038; June 28, 1994, D.C. Law 10-129, § 2(e), 41 DCR 2583; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(f), 46 DCR 952; Apr. 12, 2000, D.C. Law 13-91, § 133, 47 DCR 520; Apr. 19, 2002, D.C. Law 14-114, § 292(c), 49 DRC 1468; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(d), 49 DCR 6523; Apr. 5, 2005, D.C. Law 15-263, § 2(e), 52 DCR 237; Apr. 13, 2005, D.C. Law 15-354, § 8(b), 52 DCR 2638; Mar. 8, 2006, D.C. Law 16-58, § 2(e), 53 DCR 14.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2519.

1973 Ed., § 6-2241.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 13-91 validated a previously made technical correction in subsec. (a).

D.C. Law 14-114 added subsec. (c).

D.C. Law 14-189, in subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "actual or perceived: race" for "race".

D.C. Law 15-263, in subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "genetic information, disability," for "disability,"; and added pars. (3) and (4) of subsec. (a).

D.C. Law 15-354 repealed subsec. (c) which had read as follows:

"(c) The monetary assistance provided to an owner of a housing accommodation under section 8 of the United States Housing Act of 1937, approved August 22, 1974 (88 Stat. 662; 42 U.S.C. § 1437f), either directly or through a tenant, shall be considered a source of income under this section."

D.C. Law 16-58, in subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression," for "sexual orientation,".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-129, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 13-91, see notes following § 2-1209.06.

Law 14-114, the "Housing Act of 2002", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 14-183, which was referred to the Committee on Finance and Revenue. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 4, 2001, and January 8, 2002, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on February 6, 2002, it was assigned Act No. 14-267 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 14-114 became effective on April 19, 2002.

For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

For Law 15-263, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 15-354, see notes following § 2-534.

For Law 16-58, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

PART E. EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS.

§ 2-1402.41. PROHIBITIONS.

It is an unlawful discriminatory practice, subject to the exemptions in § 2-1401.03(b), for an educational institution:

(1) To deny, restrict, or to abridge or condition the use of, or access to, any of its facilities, services, programs, or benefits of any program or activity to any person otherwise qualified, wholly or partially, for a discriminatory reason, based upon the actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, political affiliation, source of income, or disability of any individual; or

(2) To make or use a written or oral inquiry, or form of application for admission, that elicits or attempts to elicit information, or to make or keep a record, concerning the race, color, religion, or national origin of an applicant for admission, except as permitted by regulations of the Office.

(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of the laws of the District of Columbia, it shall not be an unlawful discriminatory practice in the District of Columbia for any educational institution that is affiliated with a religious organization or closely associated with the tenets of a religious organization to deny, restrict, abridge, or condition --

(A) the use of any fund, service, facility, or benefit; or

(B) the granting of any endorsement, approval, or recognition,

to any person or persons that are organized for, or engaged in, promoting, encouraging, or condoning any homosexual act, lifestyle, orientation, or belief.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 241, 24 DCR 6038; Nov. 21, 1989, 103 Stat. 1284, Pub. L. 101-168, § 141(b); June 28, 1994, D.C. Law 10- 129, § 2(f), 41 DCR 2583; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(g), 46 DCR 952; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(e), 49 DCR 6524; Mar. 8, 2006, D.C. Law 16-58, § 2(f), 53 DCR 14.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2520.

1973 Ed., § 6-2251.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 14-189, in par. (1), substituted "facilities, services, programs, or benefits of any program or activity" for "facilities and services" and substituted "actual or perceived: race" for "race".

D.C. Law 16-58, in par. (1), substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression," for "sexual orientation,".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-129, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

For Law 16-58, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.42. EXCEPTIONS REGARDING SEX DISCRIMINATION AND AGE.

(a) Nothing in this chapter regarding sex discrimination in admission policy shall apply to any private undergraduate college or to any private preschool, elementary or secondary school; except that, when any of the above exempted colleges offers a course nowhere else available in the District, opportunity for admission to that course must be open to students of both sexes who otherwise meet lawful requirements for admission.

(b) It shall not be an unlawful discriminatory practice for the District of Columbia to prescribe minimum and maximum age limits for appointment to the police officer and firefighter cadet programs.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 242, 24 DCR 6038; Mar. 9, 1983, D.C. Law 4-172, § 4(b), 29 DCR 5745.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2521.

1973 Ed., § 6-2252.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 1-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 4-172, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

PART F. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS.

§ 2-1402.51. POSTING OF NOTICE.

Every person subject to this chapter shall post and keep posted in a conspicuous location where business or activity is customarily conducted or negotiated, a notice whose language and form has been prepared by the Office, setting forth excerpts from or summaries of, the pertinent provisions of this chapter and information pertinent to the filing of a complaint.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 251, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2522.

1973 Ed., § 6-2261.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.52. RECORDS AND REPORTS.

(a) Every person subject to this chapter shall preserve any regularly kept business records for a period of 6 months from the date of the making of the record, or from the date of the action which is the subject of the record, whichever is longer; such records shall include, but not be limited to, application forms submitted by applicants, sales and rental records, credit and reference reports, personnel records, and any other record pertaining to the status of an individual's enjoyment of the rights and privileges protected or granted under this chapter.

(b) Where a charge of discrimination has been filed against a person under this chapter, the respondent

shall preserve all records which may be relevant to the charge or action, until a final disposition of the charge in accordance with subsection (c) of this section.

(c) All persons subject to this chapter shall furnish to the Office, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Office, such reports relating to information under their control as the Office may require. The identities of persons and properties contained in reports submitted to the Office under the provisions of this section shall not be made public.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 252, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2523.

1973 Ed., § 6-2262.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.53. AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PLANS.

(a) It shall not be an unlawful discriminatory practice for any person to carry out an affirmative action plan that has been approved by the Office. An affirmative action plan is any plan devised to effectuate remedial or corrective action in response to past discriminatory practices prohibited under this chapter and may also include those plans devised to provide preferential treatment for a class or classes of persons, which preferential treatment by class would otherwise be prohibited by this chapter and which plan is not devised to contravene the intent of this chapter.

(b) All banks and savings and loan associations, subject to this chapter, shall submit annually to the Office an affirmative action plan which shall include goals and timetables for the remediation or correction of past or present discriminatory practices. Such plan shall be reviewed by the Office and is subject to its approval.

(c) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for any bank or savings and loan association, subject to this chapter, to fail to develop an affirmative action plan approved by the Office or fail to comply substantially with the terms of such affirmative action plan.

(d) The Office shall develop and promulgate guidelines which will set forth the affirmative action requirements of this section and shall incorporate, but not be limited to, applicable federal guidelines. Such guidelines shall be promulgated by the Office within 120 days of the enactment of this law consistent with the District of Columbia Administrative Procedure Act (§ 2- 501 et seq.) and shall not become effective until 60 calendar days following submission to the Council.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 253, 24 DCR 6038; Mar. 3, 1979, D.C. Law 2-140, § 3, 25 DCR 5473.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2524.

1973 Ed., § 6-2263.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 2-140 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 2-294, which was referred to the Committee on Employment and Economic Development. The Bill was adopted on first, amended first, second amended first, and second readings on September 19, 1978, October 3, 1978, October 17, 1978 and October 31, 1978, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 27, 1978, it was assigned Act No. 2-301 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

PART G. OTHER PROHIBITED PRACTICES.

§ 2-1402.61. COERCION OR RETALIATION.

(a) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to coerce, threaten, retaliate against, or interfere with any person in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of having exercised or enjoyed, or on account of having aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise or enjoyment of any right granted or

protected under this chapter.

(b) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for any person to require, request, or suggest that a person retaliate against, interfere with, intimidate or discriminate against a person, because that person has opposed any practice made unlawful by this chapter, or because that person has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding or hearing authorized under this chapter.

(c) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for any person to cause or coerce, or attempt to cause or coerce, directly or indirectly, any person to prevent any person from complying with the provisions of this chapter.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 261, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2525.

1973 Ed., § 6-2271.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.62. AIDING OR ABETTING.

It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for any person to aid, abet, invite, compel, or coerce the doing of any of the acts forbidden under the provisions of this chapter or to attempt to do so.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 262, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2526.

1973 Ed., § 6-2272.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.63. CONCILIATION AGREEMENTS.

It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for a party to a conciliation agreement, made under the provisions of this chapter, to violate the terms of such agreement.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 263, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2527.

1973 Ed., § 6-2273.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.64. RESISTING THE OFFICE OR COMMISSION.

(a) Any person who shall willfully resist, prevent, impede or interfere with the Office or the Commission, or any of their representatives, in the performance of any duty under the provisions of this chapter, or shall willfully violate an order of the Commission, shall upon conviction, be punished by imprisonment for not more than 10 days, or by a fine of not more than \$300, or by both, except, that filing a petition for review of an order, pursuant to the provisions of this chapter, shall not be deemed to constitute such willful conduct, nor shall compliance with any procedure regarding a subpoena in accord with § 5-1021, be deemed to constitute such willful conduct.

(b) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for a person subject to this chapter, to fail to post notices, maintain records, file reports, as required by §§ 2-1402.51 to 2-1402.53, or to supply documents and

information requested by the Office in connection with a matter under investigation.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 264, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2528.

1973 Ed., § 6-2274.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.65. FALSIFYING DOCUMENTS AND TESTIMONY.

It shall be unlawful to willfully falsify documents, records, or reports, which are required or subpoenaed pursuant to this chapter, or willfully to falsify testimony, or to intimidate any witness or complainant; such violations shall be punishable by imprisonment for not more than 10 days, or by a fine of not more than \$300, or by both.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 265, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2529.

1973 Ed., § 6-2275.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.66. ARREST RECORDS.

It shall be an unlawful practice, punishable by a fine of not more than \$300, or imprisonment for not more than 10 days, or both, for any person to require the production of any arrest record or any copy, extract, or statement thereof, at the monetary expense of any individual to whom such record may relate. Such "arrest records" shall contain only listings of convictions and forfeitures of collateral that have occurred within 10 years of the time at which such record is requested.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 266, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2530.

1973 Ed., § 6-2276.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.67. DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA.

All permits, licenses, franchises, benefits, exemptions, or advantages issued by or on behalf of the government of the District of Columbia, shall specifically require and be conditioned upon full compliance with the provisions of this chapter; and shall further specify that the failure or refusal to comply with any provision of this chapter shall be a proper basis for revocation of such permit, license, franchise, benefit, exemption, or advantage.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 267, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2531. 1973 Ed., § 6-2277. For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.68. EFFECTS CLAUSE.

Any practice which has the effect or consequence of violating any of the provisions of this chapter shall be deemed to be an unlawful discriminatory practice.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title II, § 268, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2532.

1973 Ed., § 6-2278.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

PART H. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

§ 2-1402.71. PROHIBITIONS.

It is unlawful discriminatory practice for an insurer authorized to sell motor vehicle insurance in the District of Columbia to do any of the following acts, wholly or partially for a discriminatory reason based on actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, family responsibilities, disability, matriculation, political affiliation, lawful occupation, or location within the geographical area of the District of Columbia of any individual:

(1) To fail or refuse to issue a policy of motor vehicle insurance;

- (2) To fail or refuse to renew a policy of motor vehicle insurance; or
- (3) To cancel a policy of motor vehicle insurance.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, § 271, as added Sept. 18, 1982, D.C. Law 4-155, § 14(b), 29 DCR 3491; June 28, 1994, D.C. Law 10-129, § 2(g), 41 DCR 2583; Oct. 21, 1995, D.C. Law 11-64, § 2(a), 42 DCR 4322; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(f), 49 DCR 6523; Mar. 8, 2006, D.C. Law 16-58, § 2(g), 53 DCR 14.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2533.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 14-189 substituted "actual or perceived: race" for "race".

D.C. Law 16-58 substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression," for "sexual orientation,".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 4-155 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 4-140, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first, amended first, second amended first, and second readings on May 11, 1982, May 25, 1982, June 8, 1982, and June 22, 1982, respectively. Deemed approved without Mayoral signature upon expiration of the Mayoral review period on July 22, 1982, it was assigned Act No. 4-226 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-129, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-64, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

For Law 16-58, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1402.72. MOTOR VEHICLE RENTAL COMPANIES.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, it shall not be an unlawful practice for a motor vehicle rental company to fail or refuse to rent a motor vehicle, or to impose differential terms and conditions upon the rental of a motor vehicle, based on the age of any person, where such action is reasonably related to accident risk or threat to public safety.

(Sept. 18, 1982, D.C. Law 4-155, § 272, as added Oct. 21, 1995, D.C. Law 11-64, § 2(b), 42 DCR 4322.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2534.

Legislative History of Laws

Law 11-64, the "Motor Vehicle Rental Company Amendment Act of 1995," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 11-162, which was referred to the Committee on Labor and Human Rights. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 20, 1995, and July 11, 1995, respectively. Approved without the signature of the Mayor on July 28, 1995, it was assigned Act No. 11-126 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 11-64 became effective on November 21, 1995.

§ 2-1402.73. APPLICATION TO THE DISTRICT GOVERNMENT.

Except as otherwise provided for by District law or when otherwise lawfully and reasonably permitted, it shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for a District government agency or office to limit or refuse to provide any facility, service, program, or benefit to any individual on the basis of an individual's actual or perceived: race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial status, family responsibilities, disability, matriculation, political affiliation, source of income, or place of residence or business.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, § 273, as added Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14- 189, § 2(g), 49 DCR 6523; Mar. 8, 2006, D.C. Law 16-58, § 2(h), 53 DCR 14.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-58 substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression," for "sexual orientation,".

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

For Law 16-58, see notes following § 2-1401.01.

PART I. BREASTFEEDING MOTHERS.

§ 2-1402.81. FINDINGS AND PURPOSES.

(a) The Council finds that:

(1) The encouragement of a public acceptance of breastfeeding is consistent with the promotion of family values between a mother and her child and no mother should be made to feel incriminated or socially ostracized for breastfeeding her child.

(2) Breastfeeding a baby constitutes a basic act of nurturing to which every mother and child has a right and which should be encouraged in the interests of maternal and child health.

(3) Breastfeeding provides significant health benefits to both the mother and child. Breastfeeding provides maternal protection from breast cancer, osteoporosis, urinary tract infections, and other cancers. Studies indicate that if every mother in the United States breastfed their children for 2 years, breast cancer could decline by 25%.

(4) Social constraints of modem society weigh against the choice of breastfeeding and often result in new mothers opting to choose formula feeding to avoid embarrassment, social ostracism, or criminal prosecution.

(5) Studies show that babies who are not breastfed have higher rates of death, meningitis, childhood leukemia and other cancers, diabetes, respiratory illnesses, bacterial and viral infections, diarrhoeal diseases, otitis media, allergies, obesity, and developmental delays. Breastfeeding may also raise a baby's intelligence quotient.

(6) To attain an optimal, healthy start in life, the Surgeon General of the United States and the American Academy of Pediatrics recommend that babies from birth to at least one year of age be breastfed unless medically contraindicated. In addition, the World Health Organization and UNICEF

have established the encouragement of breastfeeding as one of their major goals for the decade.

(7) Despite these recommendations, statistics reveal a declining percentage of mothers are choosing to breastfeed their children. Nearly 50% of all new mothers are now choosing formula over breastfeeding before they leave the hospital, only 20% are still breastfeeding when their babies are 6 months of age, and only 6% are still breastfeeding when their babies are one year of age.

(b) This part has the following purposes:

(1) To increase the incidence and duration of breastfeeding as a goal for optimal maternal and child health and nutrition;

(2) To enable women who so choose to freely breastfeed their children so that infants may be fed exclusively on breast milk from birth to 4 to 6 months of age;

(3) To further enable women to breastfeed while giving appropriate and adequate complementary foods to children for up to 2 years of age or beyond; and

(4) To create an appropriate environment of awareness and support so that women can breastfeed and thereby achieve an ideal child nutrition option.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, § 281, as added Dec. 11, 2007, D.C. Law 17-58, § 2(b), 54 DCR 10714.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

Law 17-58, the "Child's Right to Nurse Human Rights Amendment Act of 2007", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-133 which was referred to the Committee on Workforce Development and Government Operations. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on July 10, 2007, and October 2, 2007, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on October 17, 2007, it was assigned Act No. 17-132 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-58 became effective on December 11, 2007.

§ 2-1402.82. RIGHTS OF BREASTFEEDING MOTHERS.

(a) For the purposes of this section, the term:

(1) "Reasonable efforts" means any effort that would not impose an undue hardship on the operation of an employer's business.

(2) "Undue hardship" means any action that requires significant difficulty or expense when considered in relation to factors such as the size of the business, its financial resources, and the nature and structure of its operation.

(b) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice to deny a woman any right provided under this section.

(c)(1) A woman shall have the right to breastfeed her child in any location, public or private, where she has the right to be with her child, without respect to whether the mother's breast or any part of it is uncovered during or incidental to the breastfeeding of her child.

(2) Notwithstanding any other provision of District of Columbia law governing indecent exposure or the definition of the private or intimate parts of a female person, including that portion of the breast that is below the top of the areola, a woman shall have the right to breastfeed in accordance with this section.

(d)(1) An employer shall provide reasonable daily unpaid break periods, as required by the employee, so that the employee may express breast milk for her child to maintain milk supply and comfort. If any break period, paid or unpaid, is already provided to the employee by the employer, the break period required shall run concurrently with the break periods already provided. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an employer shall not be required to provide break periods if it would create an undue hardship on the operations of the employer.

(2) An employer shall make reasonable efforts to provide a sanitary room or other location in close proximity to the work area, other than a bathroom or toilet stall, where an employee can express her breast milk in privacy and security. The location may include a childcare facility in close proximity to the employee's work location.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, § 282, as added Dec. 11, 2007, D.C. Law 17-58, § 2(b), 54 DCR 10714.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 17-58, see notes following § 2-1402.81.

§ 2-1402.83. DUTIES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH.

The Department of Health shall monitor breastfeeding rates in the District of Columbia, the number and nature of complaints regarding violations of this part received by the Office of Human Rights, and any benefits reported by working breastfeeding mothers and employers to the Department of Health. The Department of Health shall issue annual reports of its findings to the Council.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, § 283, as added Dec. 11, 2007, D.C. Law 17-58, § 2(b), 54 DCR 10714.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 17-58, see notes following § 2-1402.81.

SUBCHAPTER III. PROCEDURES.

§ 2-1403.01. POWERS OF OFFICE AND COMMISSION; ANNUAL REPORT BY MAYOR.

(a) The activities of the Office and the Commission, under the provisions of this chapter, shall be considered investigations or examinations of municipal matters, within the meaning of § 5-1021; and the Commission, the individual members thereof, and the Director, shall possess the powers vested in the Council of the District of Columbia.

(b) The Office is hereby empowered to undertake its own investigations and public hearings on any racial, religious, and ethnic group tensions, prejudice, intolerance, bigotry, and disorder; and on any form of, or reason for, discrimination, in accordance with §§ 2-1401.01 and 2-1402.01, against any person, group of persons, organization, or corporations, whether practiced by private persons, associations, corporations, city officials, or city agencies; for the purpose of making appropriate recommendations for action, including legislation, against such discrimination.

(c) The Office and the Commission may make, issue, adopt, promulgate, amend, and rescind such rules and procedures as they deem necessary to effectuate and which are not in conflict with, the provisions of this chapter. Such rules and procedures and amendments thereto shall be adopted and promulgated in accordance with procedures promulgated pursuant to the D.C. Administrative Procedure Act (§ 2-501 et seq.).

(d) In taking any action authorized or required by the provisions of this chapter, the Commission may act through panels or a division of not less than 3 of its members, a majority of whom shall constitute a quorum.

(e) The Mayor shall recommend to the Council any additional regulations.

(f) Investigations relating to the enforcement of provisions of this chapter shall be given priority over all other duties and activities of the Office.

(g) The Mayor shall report annually to the Council as to the progress with regard to the enforcement of this chapter, and any other activity related to the field of human rights deemed valuable to the Council in the pursuit of its responsibilities.

(h) The Office and the Commission shall enforce §§ 34-1240, 34-1241, 34-1242, 34-1243 and any other human rights provisions of Chapter 12 of Title 34.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 301, 24 DCR 6038; Aug. 21, 1982, D.C. Law 4-142, § 42(i), 29 DCR 2872.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2541.

1973 Ed., § 6-2281.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 4-142 was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 4-35, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on March 9, 1982, and June 8, 1982, respectively. Approved without signature by the Mayor, it was assigned Act No. 4-208 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Miscellaneous Notes

Establishment of Department of Human Rights and Minority Business Development: See Mayor's Order 89-247, November 1, 1989.

§ 2-1403.02. COMPLAINTS; INDEPENDENT ACTION BY OTHER DISTRICT AGENCIES.

Nothing in the provisions of this chapter is deemed to relieve any agency or authority of the government of the District of its obligation to take immediate and independent action regarding a matter filed with it, in accord with its jurisdiction, that also may be the subject of a complaint filed with the Office.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 302, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2542.

1973 Ed., § 6-2282.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.03. ESTABLISHMENT OF PROCEDURE FOR COMPLAINTS FILED AGAINST DISTRICT GOVERNMENT.

(a) The Mayor shall establish rules of procedure for the investigation, conciliation, and hearing of administrative complaints filed against District government agencies, officials and employees alleging violations of this chapter. The final administrative determination in such matters shall be made by the Mayor or his designee.

(b) A person claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful discriminatory practice on the part of District government agencies, officials, or employees may elect to file an administrative complaint under the rules of procedure established by the Mayor under this section or a civil action in a court of competent jurisdiction under § 2-1403.16.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 303, 24 DCR 6038; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(h), 49 DCR 6523; Mar. 13, 2004, D.C. Law 15-105, § 28, 51 DCR 881.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2543.

1973 Ed., § 6-2283.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 14-189, designated the section as subsec. (a); added subsec. (b); and rewrote the newly designated subsec. (a) which had read as follows:

"Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, the Mayor shall establish rules of procedure for the investigation, conciliation, and hearing of complaints filed against District government agencies, officials and employees alleging violations of this chapter. The final determination in such matters shall be made by the Mayor or his designee."

D.C. Law 15-105 validated a previously made technical correction.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

For Law 15-105, see notes following § 2-602.

§ 2-1403.04. FILING OF COMPLAINTS AND MEDIATION.

(a) Any person or organization, whether or not an aggrieved party, may file with the Office a complaint of a violation of the provisions of this chapter, including a complaint of general discrimination, unrelated to a specific person or instance. The complaint shall state the name and address of the person alleged to have committed the violation, hereinafter called the respondent, and shall set forth the substance thereof, and such other information as may be required by the Office. The Director, sua sponte, may investigate individual instances and patterns of conduct prohibited by the provisions of this chapter and may initiate complaints in connection therewith. Any complaint under this chapter shall be filed with the Office within 1

year of the occurrence of the unlawful discriminatory practice, or the discovery thereof, except as may be modified in accordance with § 2-1403.03.

(b) Complaints filed with the Office under the provisions of this chapter may be voluntarily withdrawn at the request of the complainant at any time prior to the completion of the Office's investigation and findings as specified in § 2-1403.05, except that the circumstances accompanying said withdrawal may be fully investigated by the Office.

(c) A mediation program shall be established and all complaints shall be mediated before the Office commences a full investigation. During the mediation the parties shall discuss the issues of the complaint in an effort to reach an agreement that satisfies the interests of all concerned parties. The Office shall grant the parties up to 45 days within which to mediate a complaint. If an agreement is reached during the mediation process, the terms of the agreement shall control resolution of the complaint. If an agreement is not reached, the Office shall proceed with an investigation of the complaint.

(d) Complaints filed with the Office alleging unlawful discrimination in residential real estate transactions or violations of FHA, shall be served on the complainant and respondent within 5 days of filing, with a notice identifying the alleged discriminatory practice and advising the parties of their procedural rights and obligations under this chapter and FHA. The Office shall refer the complaint for mediation, but shall begin investigating the complaint within 30 days of its filing if the parties fail to reach an agreement.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 304, 24 DCR 6038; Oct. 23, 1997, D.C. Law 12-39, § 2(a), 44 DCR 4856; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(h), 46 DCR 952.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2544.

1973 Ed., § 6-2284.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 12-39, the "Human Rights Amendment Act of 1997," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 12-143, which was referred to the Committee on Government Operations. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 3, 1997, and July 1, 1997, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 18, 1997, it was assigned Act No. 12-143 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 12-39 became effective on October 23, 1997.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.05. INVESTIGATION.

(a) With the exception of complaints alleging unlawful discrimination in residential real estate transactions brought pursuant to this chapter or the FHA, the Office shall serve, within 15 days of said filing, a copy thereof upon the respondent, and upon all persons it deems to be necessary parties; and shall make prompt investigation in connection therewith.

(b) Within 120 days, after service of the complaint upon all parties thereto, the Office shall determine whether, in accord with its own rules, it has jurisdiction; and if so, whether there is probable cause to believe that the respondent has engaged or is engaging in an unlawful discriminatory practice.

(c) If the Office finds, with respect to any respondent, that it lacks jurisdiction or that probable cause does not exist the Director forthwith shall issue and cause to be served on the appropriate parties, an order dismissing the allegations of the complaint.

(d) The Office shall complete investigations of complaints alleging unlawful discrimination in residential real estate transactions brought pursuant to this chapter or the FHA, within 100 days after filing of the complaint. The Office shall notify the parties in writing of the reasons for not timely completing the investigation, if it is unable to or it becomes impracticable to complete the investigation within 100 days.

(e) The Office may join a person not named as an additional or substitute respondent upon written notice for complaints alleging unlawful discrimination in residential real estate transactions brought pursuant to this chapter or the FHA. The Office, in the notice to the respondent shall explain the basis for determining that the person is properly joined as a respondent.

(f) The complainant, respondent, or an aggrieved person on whose behalf the complaint was filed, for complaints alleging unlawful discrimination in residential real estate transactions or violations of the FHA, may elect to have the claims asserted in the complaint decided in a civil action.

(1) An election of remedies, pursuant to this subsection, shall be made no later than 20 days after the service of a charge, based on a finding of probable cause pursuant to the investigation of the complaint.

(2) The person making the election of remedies shall give notice by certified mail to the Director and to all parties to the complaint.

(g) If a timely election is made pursuant to subsection (f) of this section, the Director shall authorize, not later than 30 days after the election is made, and the Corporation Counsel shall file a civil action on behalf of the aggrieved party in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. Venue for an action pursuant to this section shall be in the District of Columbia. Any aggrieved party may intervene in this court action. The Court may grant relief pursuant to § 2-1403.16(b) if the court finds that a discriminatory housing practice has occurred or is occurring.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 305, 24 DCR 6038; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(i), 46 DCR 952.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2545.

1973 Ed., § 6-2285.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.06. CONCILIATION.

(a) If, in the judgment of the Office, the circumstances so warrant, it may, at any time after the filing of the complaint, endeavor to eliminate such unlawful discriminatory practice by conference, conciliation, or persuasion.

(b) If the Office determines that there exists probable cause to believe that the respondent has engaged or is engaging in an unlawful practice, the parties shall attempt to conciliate the complaint. The Office shall grant the parties up to 60 days within which to reach a conciliation agreement. If the parties fail to execute a conciliation agreement within the time allowed by the Office, the Office shall certify the case to the Commission for a public hearing. The terms of a conciliation agreement may require a respondent to refrain, in the future, from committing specified discriminatory practices, and to take such affirmative action as, in the judgment of the Office, will effectuate the purposes of this chapter; and may include consent, by the respondent, to the entry in court of a consent decree, embodying the terms of the conciliation agreement.

(c) Upon agreement of all parties to a complaint and upon notice to all parties thereto, a conciliation agreement shall be deemed an order of the Commission, and shall be enforceable as such. Except for the terms of the conciliation agreement, employees of the Office shall not make public, without the written consent of the respondent, information concerning conciliation efforts.

(d) Repealed.

(e) The Office shall make public, unless the complainant and respondent agree otherwise and the Director determines that disclosure is not required to further the purpose of this chapter, conciliation agreements alleging unlawful discrimination in residential real estate transactions or violations of the FHA.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 306, 24 DCR 6038; Apr. 9, 1997, D.C. Law 11-198, § 402, 43 DCR 4569; Oct. 23, 1997, D.C. Law 12-39, § 2(b), 44 DCR 4856; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(j), 46 DCR 952; Apr. 12, 2000, D.C. Law 13-91, § 159(c), 47 DCR 520.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2546.

1973 Ed., § 6-2286.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 13-91 validated a previously made technical correction in subsec. (e).

Temporary Amendments of Section

For temporary (225 day) amendment of section, see § 2 of the Fiscal Year 1997 Budget Support Temporary Amendment Act of 1996, (D.C. Law 11-226, Apr. 9, 1997, law notification 44 DCR 2584).

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary amendment of section, see § 402 of the Fiscal Year 1997 Budget Support Congressional

Adjournment Emergency Amendment Act of 1997 (D.C. Act 12-2, February 19, 1997, 44 DCR 1590).

Section 1001 of D.C. Act 12-2 provides for the application of the act.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 11-198, the "Fiscal Year 1997 Budget Support Act of 1996," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 11-741, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 19, 1996, and July 3, 1996, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 26, 1996, it was assigned Act No. 11-360 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 11-198 became effective on April 9, 1997.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-39, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1403.04.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For Law 13-91, see notes following § 2-1209.06.

§ 2-1403.07. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF.

If, at any time after a complaint has been filed, the Office believes that appropriate civil action to preserve the status quo or to prevent irreparable harm appears advisable, the Office shall certify the matter to the Corporation Counsel, who shall bring, in the name of the District of Columbia, any action necessary to preserve such status quo or to prevent such harm, including the seeking of temporary restraining orders and preliminary injunctions. The appropriate parties shall be notified of such certification and the complainant may initiate independently, or in cooperation with the Corporation Counsel, appropriate civil action to seek a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 307, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2547.

1973 Ed., § 6-2287.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.08. POSTING OF NOTICE OF COMPLAINT IN HOUSING ACCOMMODATION.

If a finding of probable cause has been made, as to a complaint of discrimination in housing, and the property owner, or his duly authorized agent, will not agree voluntarily to withhold from the market the subject housing accommodations for a period of 10 days from the date of such finding of probable cause, the Office may cause to be posted on the door of said housing accommodations for a period of 10 days from the date of said finding a notice advising that said accommodations are the subject of a complaint before the Office and that prospective transferees will take such housing accommodations at their peril. Any destruction, defacement, alteration or removal of the notice thereof, by the owner or his agents, servants and employees, shall be punishable, upon conviction, by a fine of up to \$300, or by imprisonment for not more than 10 days, or both.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 308, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2548.

1973 Ed., § 6-2288.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.09. SERVICE OF PROCESS.

In all cases where the Office is required to effect service, it shall be accomplished by regular, registered, or certified mail, return receipt requested, by electronic mail, or by personal service and shall otherwise be

in accordance with rules of the Office regarding service and notice.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 309, 24 DCR 6038; Mar. 14, 2012, D.C. Law 19-112, § 2, 59 DCR 453.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2549.

1973 Ed., § 6-2289.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 19-112 substituted "regular, registered, or certified mail, return receipt requested, by electronic mail," for "registered or certified mail, return receipt requested".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

Law 19-112, the "Human Rights Service of Process Amendment Act of 2012", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 19-377, which was referred to the Committee on Aging and Community Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 6, 2011, and January 4, 2012, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 20, 2012, it was assigned Act No. 19-287 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 19-112 became effective on March 14, 2012.

§ 2-1403.10. NOTICE OF HEARING.

In case of failure of conciliation efforts, or in advance of conciliation efforts, as determined by the Office, and after a finding of probable cause, the Office shall cause to be issued and served in the name of the Commission, a written notice, together with a copy of the complaint, as the same may have been amended, requiring the respondent to answer the charges of such complaint at a public hearing before 1 or more members of the Commission or before a hearing examiner, such hearing to be scheduled not less than 10 days or not more than 30 days after such service and at a place to be specified in such notice. Notice shall be served by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by personal service.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 310, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2550.

1973 Ed., § 6-2290.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.11. HEARING TRIBUNAL.

(a) After a complaint has been noticed for hearing, a hearing tribunal consisting of 3 members of the Commission, sitting as the Commission, shall be appointed to make a determination upon such complaint. At the discretion of the Commission, 1 or more hearing examiners may be delegated to hear and report back to the Commission, on any case or question before the Commission.

(b) A hearing examiner may be an employee of the District government or may be selected from a list of qualified hearing examiners prepared by the Commission. Commission members may serve as hearing examiners. Hearing examiners shall be paid on a per diem basis, while actually sitting and hearing a case: Provided, that funds are available for such purpose.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 311, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2551.

1973 Ed., § 6-2291.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.12. CONDUCT OF HEARING.

(a) The hearing shall be conducted in accordance with procedures promulgated pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (§ 2-501 et seq.).

(b) The case in support of the complaint shall be presented by an agent or attorney of the Office.

(c) Any Commissioner or hearing examiner, who has participated in the investigation, conciliation or processing of a complaint, or has participated in any decision related to the merits of a complaint, may not sit with a hearing tribunal appointed to make a determination upon such complaint.

(d) Efforts at conciliation by the Office, or the parties, shall not be received in evidence.

(e) If the respondent fails to answer the complaint, the hearing tribunal, or the hearing examiner designated to conduct the hearing, may enter the default and the hearing shall proceed on the basis of the evidence in support of the complaint. Such default may be set aside only for good cause shown, and upon equitable terms and conditions.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 312, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2552.

1973 Ed., § 6-2292.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.13. DECISION AND ORDER.

(a)(1) If, at the conclusion of the hearing, the Commission determines that a respondent has engaged in an unlawful discriminatory practice or has otherwise violated the provisions of this chapter, the Commission shall issue, and cause to be served upon such respondent, a decision and order, accompanied by findings of fact and conclusions of law, requiring such respondent to cease and desist from such unlawful discriminatory practice, and to take such affirmative action, including but not limited to:

(A) The hiring, reinstatement or upgrading of employees, with or without back pay;

(B) The restoration to the membership in any respondent labor organization, admission to or participation in a program, apprenticeship training program, on-the-job training program or other occupational training or retraining program;

(C) The extension of full, equal and unsegregated accommodations, advantages, facilities and privileges to all persons;

(D) The payment of compensatory damages to the person aggrieved by such practice;

(E) The payment of reasonable attorney fees;

(E-1) The payment of civil penalties, which shall be deposited in the General Fund, according to the following schedule:

(i) In an amount not to exceed \$10,000 if the respondent has not been adjudged to have committed any prior unlawful discriminatory practice;

(ii) In an amount not to exceed \$25,000 if the respondent has been adjudged to have committed 1 other unlawful discriminatory practice during the 5-year period ending on the date of the filing of this charge; and

(iii) In an amount not to exceed \$50,000 if the respondent has been adjudged to have committed 2 or more unlawful discriminatory practices during the 7-year period ending on the date of the filing of this charge; and

(F) The payment of hearing costs, as, in the judgment of the Commission, will effectuate the purposes of this chapter, and including a requirement for a report as to the manner of compliance with such decision and order.

(2) With regard to compensatory damages, civil penalties, and attorneys fees, the Commission shall develop guidelines which shall be submitted to the Council for review prior to implementation.

(b) If, upon all the evidence, the Commission finds that a respondent has not engaged in any unlawful discriminatory practice, the Commission shall issue and cause to be served on the complainant, an order dismissing the complaint as to such respondent.

(c) Whenever a case has been heard by 1 or more hearing examiners who do not have the power to render a final order or decision, the Commissioners, assigned to decide the case, shall serve upon the parties a proposed order or decision, including findings of fact and conclusions of law, with a notice providing that each party adversely affected may file exceptions and present arguments to the Commissioners, on a date not less than 10 days from the date of service of the proposed order or decision.

(d) Findings of fact and conclusions of law shall be supported by, and in accordance with, reliable, probative, and substantial evidence.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 313, 24 DCR 6038; Oct. 23, 1997, D.C. Law 12-39, § 2(c), 44 DCR 4856.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2553.

1973 Ed., § 6-2293.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-39, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1403.04.

Miscellaneous Notes

Compensatory damages and attorneys' fees guidelines approved: Pursuant to Resolution 4-637, the "Commission on Human Rights Compensatory Damages and Attorneys' Fees Approved Resolution of 1982", effective October 19, 1982, the Council approved the proposed guidelines concerning compensatory damages and attorneys' fees which were transmitted from the Commission to the Council on May 10, 1982.

Compensatory damages, civil penalties, and attorney's fees approved: Proposed Resolution 12-1237 (R12-838), the "District of Columbia Commission on Human Rights Compensatory Damages, Civil Penalties, and Attorneys' Fees Approval Resolution of 1998", was deemed approved, effective December 15, 1998.

§ 2-1403.14. JUDICIAL REVIEW.

Any person suffering a legal wrong, or adversely affected or aggrieved by an order or decision of the Commission in a matter pursuant to the provisions of this chapter, is entitled to a judicial review thereof, in accordance with § 2-510, upon filing, in the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, a written petition for such review.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 314, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2554.

1973 Ed., § 6-2294.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.15. ENFORCEMENT OF ORDER.

(a) The decision and order of the Commission shall be served on the respondent, with notice that, if the Commission determines that the respondent has not, after 30 calendar days following service of its order, corrected the unlawful discriminatory practice and complied with the order, the Commission will certify the matter to the Corporation Counsel, and to such other agencies as may be appropriate for enforcement.

(b) The Corporation Counsel shall institute, in the name of the District, civil proceedings including the seeking of such restraining orders and temporary or permanent injunctions, as are necessary to obtain complete compliance with the Commission's orders. In the event that successful civil proceedings do not result in securing such compliance, the Corporation Counsel shall institute criminal action.

(c) No enforcement action shall be instituted pending review as provided in § 2-1403.14.

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to deprive any person of rights in the criminal justice process.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 315, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2555.

1973 Ed., § 6-2295.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

§ 2-1403.16. PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION.

(a) Any person claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful discriminatory practice shall have a cause of action in any court of competent jurisdiction for damages and such other remedies as may be appropriate, unless such person has filed a complaint hereunder; provided, that where the Office has dismissed such complaint on the grounds of administrative convenience, or where the complainant has withdrawn a complaint, such person shall maintain all rights to bring suit as if no complaint had been filed. No person who maintains, in a court of competent jurisdiction, any action based upon an act which would be an unlawful discriminatory practice under this chapter may file the same complaint with the Office. A private cause of action pursuant to this chapter shall be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction within one year of the unlawful discriminatory act, or the discovery thereof, except that the limitation shall be within 2 years of the unlawful discriminatory act, or the discovery thereof, for complaints of unlawful discrimination in real estate transactions brought pursuant to this chapter or the FHA. The timely filing of a complaint with the Office, or under the administrative procedures established by the Mayor pursuant to § 2-1403.03, shall toll the running of the statute of limitations while the complaint is pending.

(b) The court may grant any relief it deems appropriate, including, the relief provided in §§ 2-1403.07 and 2-1403.13(a).

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 316, 24 DCR 6038; Oct. 23, 1997, D.C. Law 12-39, § 2(d), 44 DCR 4856; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-242, § 2(k), 46 DCR 952; Oct. 1, 2002, D.C. Law 14-189, § 2(i), 49 DCR 6523.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2556.

1973 Ed., § 6-2296.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 14-189, in the fourth sentence of subsec. (a), substituted "The timely filing of a complaint with the Office, or under the administrative procedures established by the Mayor pursuant to § 2-1403.03, shall toll the running of the statute of limitations while the complaint is pending." for "The timely filing of a complaint with the Office shall toll the running of the statute of limitations while the complaint is pending." for "The timely filing before the Office."

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01. For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-39, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1403.04. For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-242, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01. For Law 14-189, see notes following § 2-1401.02.

§ 2-1403.17. REFERRAL TO LICENSING AGENCIES.

(a) Whenever it appears that the holder of a permit, license, franchise, benefit, or advantage issued by any agency or authority of the government of the District is a person against whom the Office has made a finding of probable cause pursuant to § 2-1403.05, the Office, notwithstanding any other action it may take or may have taken under the authority of the provisions of this chapter, may refer to the proper agency or authority the facts and identities of all persons involved in the complaint for such action as such agency or authority, in its judgment, considers appropriate, based upon the facts thus disclosed to it.

(b) The Commission, upon a determination of a violation of any of the provisions of this chapter by a holder of, or applicant for any permit, license, franchise, benefit, exemption, or advantage issued by or on behalf of the government of the District of Columbia, and upon failure of the respondent to correct the unlawful discriminatory practice and comply with its order, in accordance with § 2-1403.15(a), shall refer this determination to the appropriate agency or authority. Such determination shall constitute prima facie evidence that the respondent, with respect to the particular business in which the violation was found, is

not operating in the public interest. Such agency or authority shall, upon notification, issue to said holder or applicant an order to show cause why such privileges related to that business should not be revoked, suspended, denied or otherwise restricted.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title III, § 317, 24 DCR 6038.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 1-2557.

1973 Ed., § 6-2297.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-38, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 2-1401.01.

SUBCHAPTER IV. COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS.

§ 2-1404.01. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS.

There is hereby established, in the Executive Branch of the District government, a Commission on Human Rights.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title IV, § 401, as added Dec. 7, 2004, D.C. Law 15-216, § 2(b), 51 DCR 9123.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

Law 15-216, the "Commission on Human Rights Establishment Amendment Act of 2004", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 15-51, which was referred to the Subcommittee on Human Rights, Latino Affairs and Property. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 29, 2004, and July 13, 2004, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on August 2, 2004, it was assigned Act No. 15-521 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 15-216 became effective on December 7, 2004.

§ 2-1404.02. PURPOSE AND FUNCTIONS.

The Commission shall serve as an impartial forum for the hearing and deciding of cases of unlawful discrimination in employment, real estate transactions, public accommodations, or educational institutions. The Commission shall hear such cases following a determination by the Office that there is probable cause to believe that an act of unlawful discrimination has occurred. In hearing and deciding such cases, the Commission shall follow the procedures set forth and use, in its discretion, the powers and authority provided in subchapter III of Unit A of this chapter.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title IV, § 402, as added Dec. 7, 2004, D.C. Law 15-216, § 2(b), 51 DCR 9123.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For D.C. Law 15-216, see notes following § 2-1404.01.

§ 2-1404.03. COMPOSITION AND APPOINTMENT.

(a) The Commission shall consist of 15 members, appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Council, in accordance with § 1-523.01.

(b) The Commission members shall be residents of the District of Columbia who have a demonstrated background or interest in human rights.

(c) The Commission members shall serve 3-year terms. The terms shall be staggered so that 5 positions expire on December 31 of each year.

(d) The Mayor shall designate one member to serve, at the Mayor's pleasure, as Chairperson of the Commission.

(e) Any person appointed to fill a vacancy occurring prior to the expiration of the term for which his or her predecessor was appointed shall be appointed only for the remainder of the term.

(f) Commission members who began their service before December 7, 2004, shall serve the remainder of

their terms.

(g) Commission members shall serve without compensation, but shall be eligible for reimbursement of expenses as provided in § 1-611.08(d).

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title IV, § 403, as added Dec. 7, 2004, D.C. Law 15-216, § 2(b), 51 DCR 9123.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For D.C. Law 15-216, see notes following § 2-1404.01.

§ 2-1404.04. ORGANIZATION.

(a) At the initial meeting of each year, the Commission shall determine its organization and name its officers, other than the Chairperson. The officers serving on December 7, 2004, shall serve until the initial meeting of the following year.

(b) The Commission shall meet at the invitation of the Chairperson or a majority of the members.

(c) The Commission may establish subcommittees to review issues and make recommendations to the Commission.

(Dec. 13, 1977, D.C. Law 2-38, title IV, § 404, as added Dec. 7, 2004, D.C. Law 15-216, § 2(b), 51 DCR 9123.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For D.C. Law 15-216, see notes following § 2-1404.01.

UNIT B. OFFICE OF HUMAN RIGHTS.

§ 2-1411.01. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE OFFICE OF HUMAN RIGHTS.

(a) Pursuant to § 1-204.04(b), there is hereby established, in the Executive Branch of the government of the District of Columbia, an Office of Human Rights under the supervision of a Director, who shall carry out the functions and authorities assigned to the Office. The Office of Human Rights ("Office") is established as a separate agency as of October 1, 1999.

(b) The Director shall have full authority over the Office and all functions and personnel assigned thereto, including the power to redelegate to other employees and officials of the Office such powers and authority as in the judgment of the Director are warranted in the interests of efficiency and sound administration.

(Oct. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 13-38, § 202, 46 DCR 6373.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) addition of subchapter IV, consisting of §§ 1-2571 to 1-2576 [1981 Ed.], see §§ 202 to 207 of the Service Improvement and Fiscal Year 2000 Budget Support Emergency Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-110, July 28, 1999, 46 DCR 6320).

Legislative History of Laws

Law 13-38, the "Service Improvement and Fiscal Year 2000 Budget Support Act of 1999," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 13-161, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 11, 1999, and June 22, 1999, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 8, 1999, it was assigned Act No. 13-111 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 13-38 became effective on October 20, 1999.

Miscellaneous Notes

Section 201 of D.C. Law 13-38 provides:

"This subtitle may be cited as the 'Office of Human Rights Establishment Act of 1999'."

§ 2-1411.02. PURPOSE.

The purpose of the Office is to secure an end to unlawful discrimination in employment, housing, public

accommodations, and educational institutions for any reason other than that of individual merit. The Office shall seek to eradicate discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression (as defined in § 2-1401.02(12A)), familial status, family responsibilities, matriculation, political affiliation, physical disability, source of income, and place of residence or business.

(Oct. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 13-38, § 203, 46 DCR 6373; Apr. 24, 2007, D.C. Law 16-305, § 12, 53 DCR 6198; June 25, 2008, D.C. Law 17-177, § 5, 55 DCR 3696.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-305 substituted "disability" for "handicap".

D.C. Law 17-177 substituted "sexual orientation, gender identity or expression (as defined in § 2-1401.02(12A))" for "sexual orientation".

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) addition of subchapter IV, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 13-38, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

For Law 16-305, see notes following § 2-301.07.

Law 17-177, the "Prohibition of Discrimination on the Basis of Gender Identity and Expression Amendment Act of 2008", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-330, which was referred to the Committee on Workforce Development and Government Operations. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on February 5, 2008, and March 4, 2008, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on March 19, 2008, it was assigned Act No. 17-329 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-177 became effective on June 25, 2008.

§ 2-1411.03. FUNCTIONS.

The functions of the Office shall be to:

(1) Educate the public, including District residents and employers, about Unit A of this chapter ("Human Rights Act");

(2) Undertake investigations and public hearings on racial, religious, or ethnic group tensions, prejudice, intolerance, bigotry, disorder, and on any form of unlawful discrimination pursuant to the Human Rights Act;

(3) Receive, review, and investigate complaints of unlawful discrimination in employment, housing, public accommodations, or educational institutions;

(4) Receive and investigate complaints of violations of § 32-501 et seq. and § 32-1201 et seq. and take appropriate enforcement action regarding these complaints;

(5) Mediate complaints of unlawful discrimination in employment, housing, public accommodations, or educational institutions to help parties to a complaint reach a voluntary settlement;

(6) Conciliate complaints of unlawful discrimination in employment, housing, public accommodations, or educational institutions, after the Office has made a finding of probable cause to believe that an act of unlawful discrimination has occurred, to help the parties to a complaint reach a voluntary settlement;

(7) Certify a complaint to the Office of the Corporation Counsel for legal action needed, in the Director's judgment, to preserve the status quo or to prevent irreparable harm to a party to the complaint;

(8) Forward to the Commission on Human Rights, for a hearing, decision, and order, any complaint that has resulted in a finding of probable cause by the Office; and

(9) Issue, adopt, promulgate, amend, and rescind such rules and procedures as the Director deems necessary to effectuate the provisions of this subtitle, in accordance with procedures promulgated pursuant to subchapter I of Chapter 5 of Title 2.

(Oct. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 13-38, § 204, 46 DCR 6373; June 19, 2001, D.C. Law 13-313, § 8, 48 DCR 1873.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 13-313 added par. (9).

For temporary (90-day) addition of subchapter IV, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 13-38, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

For D.C. Law 13-313, see notes following § 2-1401.02

§ 2-1411.04. TRANSFERS.

All positions, personnel, property, records, and unexpended balances of appropriations, allocations, and other funds available or to be made available to the Department of Human Rights and Local Business Development for the human rights functions set out in Reorganization Plan No. 1 of 1989, effective November 1, 1989, are hereby transferred to the Office.

(Oct. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 13-38, § 205, 46 DCR 6373.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) addition of subchapter IV, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 13-38, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

§ 2-1411.05. ORGANIZATION.

(a) There are hereby established the following 5 primary organizational functions in the Office:

(1) The Office of the Director, which sets overall policy and performance targets for the Office, supervises and evaluates staff, administers the budget, and promotes conciliation after a determination of probable cause has been reached.

(2) Education and Research, which studies patterns of discrimination in employment, public accommodations, and educational institutions, and educates District residents, employers, community groups, and other concerned parties about the Human Rights Act and federal anti-discrimination laws in order to prevent unlawful discrimination.

(3) Intake, which counsels prospective complainants on the Office's functions and statutory responsibilities, evaluates the complainants' allegation of unlawful discrimination, and completes the forms and procedures necessary for the filing of a complaint;

(4) Mediation, which trains and oversees the activities of mediators who assist the parties to a complaint in trying to reach a voluntary settlement; and

(5) Investigations, which solicits and evaluates evidence provided by the complainant and respondent to prepare a written determination about whether there is probable cause to believe that the respondent has violated the Human Rights Act.

(b) The Director, in the performance of his or her duties and functions, is authorized to restructure the organizational components of the Office as he or she deems necessary to improve the quality of services.

(Oct. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 13-38, § 206, 46 DCR 6373.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) addition of subchapter IV, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 13-38, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

§ 2-1411.06. ABOLISHMENT OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND LOCAL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT.

Pursuant to § 1-204.04(b), the Council hereby abolishes the Department of Human Rights and Local Business Development, established under Reorganization Plan No. 1 of 1989, effective November 1, 1989. The Department of Human Rights and Local Business Development is abolished as of October 1, 1999.

(Oct. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 13-38, § 207, 46 DCR 6373.)

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) addition of subchapter IV, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 13-38, see notes following § 2-1411.01.

UNIT C. DISABILITY RIGHTS PROTECTION.

§ 2-1431.01. DEFINITIONS.

For the purposes of this unit, the term:

- (1) "ADA" means the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, approved July 26, 1990 (104 Stat. 327; 42 U.S.C. § 12101 *et seq.*).
- (2) "ADA Compliance Program" means the program established by § 2-1431.02.
- (3) "Agency" means all agencies and instrumentalities of the District government.
- (4) "Disability" means, with respect to an individual:

(A) A physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual;

- (B) A record of such an impairment; or
- (C) Being regarded as having such an impairment.
- (5) "Human Rights Act" means Unit A of this chapter.

(6) "Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities" means the Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities, established by Mayor's Order 88-245 (November 16, 1998), and amended by Mayor's Order 2002-79 (April 15, 2002).

- (7) "Office" means the Office of Disability Rights established by § 2-1431.03.
- (8) "Office of Human Rights" means the Office of Human Rights established by § 2-1411.01.

(9) "Olmstead Compliance Plan" means a comprehensive working plan, developed in collaboration with individuals with disabilities and with District agencies serving individuals with disabilities, which shall include annual legislative, regulatory, and budgetary recommendations for the District to serve qualified individuals with disabilities in accordance with *Olmstead v. L.C.*, 527 U.S. 581, and in the most integrated setting as provided in 28 C.F.R. Part 35, App. A.

(10) "Rehabilitation Act" means the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, approved September 26, 1973 (87 Stat. 355; 29 U.S.C. § 701 *et seq.*).

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 2, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

Law 16-239, the "Disability Rights Protection Act of 2006", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 16-866, which was referred to Committee on Government Operations. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 14, 2006, and December 5, 2006, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 28 2006, it was assigned Act No. 16-595 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-239 became effective on March 8, 2007.

Miscellaneous Notes

Re-Establishment of the District of Columbia Commission on Persons with Disabilities, see Mayor's Order 2009-165, September 25, 2009 (56 DCR 8093).

Section 7083 of D.C. Law 17-219 repealed Section 10 of D.C. Law 16-239.

§ 2-1431.02. DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ADA COMPLIANCE PROGRAM.

- (a) All agencies shall:
 - (1) Appoint an agency ADA Coordinator in accordance with 28 C.F.R. Part 35;
 - (2) Complete an annual ADA self-evaluation to determine the status of ADA compliance;

(3) Prepare an annual ADA implementation plan stating action to be taken to provide qualified persons with disabilities in the District with full and complete access to services, activities, and facilities;

(4) Establish and publish uniform grievance procedures in accordance with 28 C.F.R. § 35.107 for prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging any action that would be prohibited under the ADA; and

(5) Submit the annual ADA self-evaluation and annual ADA implementation plan for approval to the Office of Disability Rights on an annual schedule established by the Office of Disability Rights.

(b) The Mayor shall:

(1) Establish an ADA Compliance Program that shall include compliance and monitoring procedures for the implementation of the ADA at all agencies; and

(2) Establish and implement an annual *Olmstead* Compliance Plan, as developed under § 2-1431.04(8).

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 3, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-239, see notes following § 2-1431.01.

Miscellaneous Notes

Establishment--The District of Columbia Commission on Persons with Disabilities, see Mayor's Order 2008-38, March 13, 2008 (55 DCR 5305).

Designation of the Office of Disability Rights as the EEO Counselor for Employees with Disabilities, see Mayor's Order 2008-64, April 17, 2008 (55 DCR 5519).

Designation of the Office of Disability Rights to coordinate the Americans with Disabilities Act Compliance Program in the District of Columbia and Assignment of Related Responsibilities to Other District Government Agencies, see Mayor's Order 2008-69, April 25, 2008 (55 DCR 6916).

§ 2-1431.03. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE OFFICE OF DISABILITY RIGHTS.

(a) There is established an Office of Disability Rights.

(b) The purpose of the Office is to advance the civil rights of people with disabilities by coordinating the District's ADA Compliance Program and by ensuring and overseeing District-wide compliance with the ADA and related disability-rights laws.

(c)(1) The Office shall be headed by a Director who shall be appointed by the Mayor with § 1-523.01(a).

(2) The Director shall serve as the Chief Administrative Officer, and may organize personnel, redelegate authority, develop programs, and take any other action consistent with appropriations and other applicable law. Annual compensation for the Director shall be fixed in accordance with subchapter X-A of Chapter 6 of Title 1.

(3) If the position of Director is vacant or about to be vacant, the Mayor may receive input on the selection of the Director from the Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities and shall endeavor to hire a qualified individual with a disability.

(d) In addition to a Director, the Office shall at a minimum have the following full-time staff:

(1) In fiscal year 2007, 3 full-time staff to include a Deputy Director, a communications specialist, and an administrative assistant;

(2) In fiscal year 2008 and thereafter, the Director may, pursuant to subsection (c) of this section and subject to appropriations, increase the number of staff members and organize the Office as the Director may determine is necessary and appropriate to carry out the Office's mission.

(e) The Director shall endeavor to hire qualified individuals with disabilities.

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 4, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-239, see notes following § 2-1431.01.

§ 2-1431.04. POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE OFFICE.

The Office shall:

(1) Coordinate and oversee the District's ADA Compliance Program;

(2) Provide ongoing training and technical assistance to agency ADA coordinators;

(3) Provide ongoing training, technical assistance and community resource referrals to agencies to ensure that agency employment practices, services and supports, facilities, telecommunications, and general policies and practices are fully accessible to people with disabilities and meet the requirements of the ADA, section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and the disability rights provisions of the Human Rights Act;

(4) Evaluate the District's compliance with the ADA, section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and the disability rights provisions of the Human Rights Act; report any deficiencies to the Office of Human Rights; and make recommendations for addressing deficiencies to the Mayor;

(5) Investigate actions or inactions of agencies in alleged violation of the ADA, section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and make referrals to the Office of Human Rights, as appropriate, of any actions or inactions that may violate the Human Rights Act;

(6) Provide information and referral, legal information, and assistance with filing complaints with the Office of Human Rights to individuals who have questions about disability rights or are experiencing obstacles to receiving services;

(7) Provide a full-time Executive Director and other full staff support to the Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities;

(8)(A) No later than one year after the establishment of the Office, and by January 1 of each year thereafter, submit to the Mayor and Council an Olmstead Compliance Plan.

(B) In developing the Olmstead Compliance Plan, the Office shall work actively with the Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities and shall endeavor to ensure that all work groups related to the development of the Olmstead Compliance Plan are at a minimum comprised 25% by individuals with disabilities and 25 % by advocates or family members;

(9)(A) No later than one year after the establishment of the Office, submit to the Mayor and Council an assessment of the existing resources, including staffing, available to each agency ADA Coordinator.

(B) The assessment shall include recommendations for the percentage of time that the ADA Coordinator at each agency should devote to duties under this unit, and recommendations for any specific agencies which should designate a full-time ADA Coordinator. The Office shall base its recommendations on the following criteria:

(i) The frequency with which the agency works with members of the public who are individuals with disabilities or District employees who are individuals with disabilities;

(ii) The frequency with which the agency interacts with the general public;

(iii) The volume of reasonable accommodation requests processed by the agency;

(iv) The volume of discrimination complaints processed by the agency; and

(v) Any other criteria that the Office believes are relevant and establishes prior to its assessment of agencies, in consultation with the Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities; and

(10) By January 1 of each year, submit to the Mayor and Council an annual status report on all activities required under this section.

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 5, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-239, see notes following § 2-1431.01.

References in Text

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, referred to in pars. (3), (4), and (5), is classified as 29 U.S.C.A. § 794.

§ 2-1431.05. PLANS AND REPORTS TO BE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC.

(a) Agencies shall make all ADA plans and reports required under this unit available on their websites and shall provide copies to the public upon request.

(b) The Office shall make all plans and reports required under this unit available on its website and shall provide copies to the public upon request.

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 6, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-239, see notes following § 2-1431.01.

§ 2-1431.06. TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS FROM THE MAYOR'S COMMITTEE ON PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES.

(a) As of October 1, 2008, the Mayor shall transfer to the Office all functions and records of the Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities.

(b) The Mayor's Committee on Persons with Disabilities shall serve in an advisory capacity to the Office and shall be actively involved in the development of the ADA Compliance Program and the Olmstead Compliance Program.

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 7, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-239, see notes following § 2-1431.01.

§ 2-1431.07. TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS FROM OFFICE OF RISK MANAGEMENT.

All functions, personnel, records, and property assigned to the Office of Risk Management under section V(B)(1) of Mayor's Order 2006-58, issued May 23, 2006 (53 DCR 5314), shall be transferred to the Office of Disability Rights. This section shall apply 30 days after the date of the appointment of the Director of the Office.

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 8, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-239, see notes following § 2-1431.01.

§ 2-1431.08. RULEMAKING AND INTERAGENCY AGREEMENTS.

(a) The Mayor shall promulgate rules as necessary to implement the provisions of this unit. The proposed rules shall be submitted to the Council for a 30- day period of review, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and days of Council recess. If the Council does not approve or disapprove the proposed rules by resolution within this 30-day period, the proposed rules shall be deemed approved.

(b) No later than 3 months after March 8, 2007, the Mayor shall issue rules which shall assign specified functions to agencies under Title I, II, III, and IV of the ADA and shall establish a process for regular interagency meetings of the agencies with assigned specified functions. The rules shall, at a minimum, address the functions specified in section N-B of Mayor's Order 2006-58, issued on May 23, 2006.

(c) All agencies assigned specific functions under the rules described in subsection (b) of this section shall enter into a Memorandum of Agreement ("MOA") or a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with the Office of Disability Rights. Each MOA or MOU shall describe operational and communication procedures for interaction with the Office.

(Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-239, § 9, 54 DCR 404.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-239, see notes following § 2-1431.01.

References in Text

Title I, II, III, and IV of ADA is classified as 42 U.S.C.A. § 12101 et seq.